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Unisys is a worldwide information technology services and 

solutions company. With expertise in consulting, systems 

integration, outsourcing, infrastructure and server technology, 

our people are unified in their commitment to help our clients, 

in more than 100 countries, quickly and efficiently achieve 

competitive advantage.

Unisys is headquartered in Blue Bell, Pennsylvania, in the 

Greater Philadelphia area. For more information, visit our 

Web site at www.unisys.com. For investor information, 

go to www.unisys.com/investor.
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At Unisys,
we see things differently.

W
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e don’t merely look at things; we look through

them. We can see the impact of change on every

layer of an organization, before the change is made.

We can predict the result of major IT investments,

before the money is spent. We guide our clients in

viewing interactions from multiple perspectives.

And we create a comprehensive, virtual model that

reveals the cause and effect of their decisions, to

help them make smarter ones. We call such an

organization a 3D Visible Enterprise. It’s agile.

It’s responsive. And it’s prepared for whatever

tomorrow has in store. With 3D-VE, we’re engaging

leading global companies and government agencies

at the highest executive levels, serving as a strategic

partner. Consulting on our clients’ business vision,

we bring the know-how to take them from

“Imagine it.” to “Done.”



Lawrence A. Weinbach
Chairman (left)

Joseph W. McGrath
President and Chief 
Executive Officer (right)

For Unisys and our shareholders, 2004 was a difficult year. As we continued our evolution

to a services-led solutions provider, we encountered challenges in the market and in our

own business execution. These challenges impacted our revenue and profitability, resulting

in lower-than-expected financial results for 2004.

This performance was disappointing to all of us—the management team, the board of

directors and our employees worldwide. It was particularly disappointing given the track

record of earnings growth and consistency that we had established coming into the year. We

had achieved this track record quarter by quarter, year by year, through one of the toughest

downturns in the history of the IT industry. To lose that track record was hard indeed.

But setbacks can be valuable in the lessons they bring. By addressing our execution issues

and making changes in our business model, we have learned from the lessons of 2004 and

emerged stronger as a result. We also achieved many positives in 2004, which will enhance 

our future operation: the launch of some exciting new services and solutions, the continued 

deepening of our employee skills base, and a successful transition to a new generation of

leadership. Although we still have challenges to work through, we are optimistic about our

opportunities for profitable growth. With a renewed focus on execution, we believe that we’re

well-positioned to begin a new record of earnings growth and consistency in 2005.

2004 in Review
On an operational basis, our earnings in 2004 were impacted by two key factors. First,

during the year we experienced challenges in several of our transformational business

process outsourcing contracts. Second, we saw weaker sales of our high-end enterprise

servers, especially late in the year.

In addition, our earnings in 2004 were impacted by a number of items during the year:

• A pretax, non-cash impairment charge of $126 million, or 26 cents per share, to write off

contract-related capitalized assets associated with one of the challenging outsourcing operations 

• A pretax charge of $82.0 million, or 18 cents per diluted share, to consolidate facility 

space and reduce global headcount by about 1,400 positions, primarily in general and

administrative areas

Letter to Stakeholders

We have
learned from
the lessons
of 2004 and
emerged
stronger as 
a result.
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• Net tax benefits of $97.0 million, or 29 cents per share, related to the settlement of

income tax audit issues during the year 

• A significant impact from pension accounting. In 2004, we incurred pretax pension

expense of $93.6 million, or 19 cents per share, compared with pretax pension income of

$22.6 million, or 5 cents per share, in 2003. We expect pension expense to increase to

about $186 million in 2005.

As a result of these factors, we reported 2004 net income of $38.6 million, or 11 cents

per diluted share, down from net income of $258.7 million, or 78 cents per diluted share,

in 2003. Revenue for the full year of 2004 declined slightly to $5.82 billion from $5.91 billion

in 2003.

Initiatives to Drive Profitable Growth
The Unisys management team takes full responsibility for our performance in 2004, and

we are committed to improving on our performance. During 2004, we completed a

broad-based review of all areas of our business, including our go-to-market approach,

our sales and delivery processes, and our cost structure. As a result of this review, we have

initiated far-reaching actions to enhance our execution and competitiveness. These

actions encompass three general areas:

Enhance market differentiation and sales success. As the information tech-

nology market becomes more crowded and competitive, we must clearly differentiate

Unisys—our strengths, our capabilities, what we stand for in the marketplace. This is why,

in recent years, we have been taking actions to move up the “value chain” of our customer

buying decisions by offering high-end services and technology offerings.

We made a major breakthrough in this market differentiation in 2004 by introducing the

Unisys 3D Visible Enterprise strategy and solutions. Unisys 3D Visible Enterprise, or 3D-VE,

enables our customers to see the potential impact of strategic business decisions before they

make those decisions. Based on industry standards such as J2EE and Microsoft’s .NET

Financial Summary

Year ended December 31
(dollars in millions, except per share data)

2004 2003 % change

Revenue $5,820.7 $5,911.2 (1.5)%
Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) 1,102.9 1,007.2 9.5%
SG&A as % of revenue 18.9% 17.0% –
Operating income (loss) (34.8) 427.7 NM
Operating income (loss) as % of revenue (.6)% 7.2% NM
Interest expense 69.0 69.6 (.9)%
Net income 38.6 258.7 (85.1)%
Diluted earnings per share ..11 .78 (85.9)%
Total debt 1,051.1 1,068.2 (1.6)%
Cash flow from operations 469.8 570.8 (17.7)%
Year-end stock price 10.18 14.85 (31.4)%
Shares outstanding 337.4M 331.9M 1.7%
Number of employees 36,400 37,300 (2.4)%

We have 
initiated 
far-reaching
actions to
enhance our
execution
and compet-
itiveness.



architecture, 3D-VE allows clients to build solutions that are highly flexible and can change as

their business changes. 3D-VE is an innovative offering in the marketplace, and we are excited

by the opportunities it offers in helping us differentiate our company.

In addition, we have taken actions to improve our effectiveness in bidding on, winning

and delivering on client engagements. Unisys has unique strengths in the marketplace: our

end-to-end services portfolio, our high-end technology offerings, our industry-oriented

approach. When we talked to clients, however, we found that they weren’t always aware of

the full capabilities of Unisys. Our sales and marketing efforts were too frequently compart-

mentalized; we were marketing as discrete business units rather than as a single company.

To win opportunities and drive revenue growth, we needed to be more coordinated and

more aggressive in our sales and marketing activities.

To improve our effectiveness in the market as “one Unisys,” we have built dedicated,

cross-business teams to serve our top client accounts and bring the full portfolio of Unisys

services and solutions to these clients. We have also changed our sales compensation structure

to ensure that our field sales organizations work together to bid and win client proposals that

involve cross-business resources. In terms of sales delivery, we are building a common set of

delivery processes across our company that will allow us to use our best people and talent in

client engagements, regardless of where these people are situated within the organization.

We have already seen success in certain accounts by taking such a “one Unisys” approach,

and we expect these initiatives to be a key contributor to improved order and sales growth.

Return the outsourcing business to profitable growth. In the second half of

2004, we experienced execution issues in several of our large business process outsourcing

engagements. These are complex, multiyear contracts that involve transitioning from the

client’s previous environment to new, state-of-the-art processes and software. In executing

this transition, we encountered delays and cost overruns that impacted our profitability.

We have taken aggressive action to address these execution issues and get back on track

in these client accounts. While we are making progress, the challenges in these outsourcing

contracts will continue to impact our results in 2005. We continue to service these clients

and meet their requirements. As we work through these issues, Unisys remains committed

to the outsourcing market overall. Outsourcing is the fastest-growing area of the IT services

industry, and Unisys has the right skills and capabilities needed to succeed in this market.

We have dozens of satisfied outsourcing clients, and we are focused on continuing to grow

our roster of clients with new orders in 2005.

Reduce costs and improve internal efficiency. As we work to enhance our top-line

growth and improve our execution, it’s equally critical that we keep focused on reducing our

costs. The IT industry is intensely competitive—and becoming more so every year. Thus, it’s

vital that we continually drive down costs and find ways to operate more efficiently and 

cost-effectively. During 2004, we announced actions to enhance our efficiency by reducing

expenses. We will complete these cost-reduction actions in 2005, and we expect them to give

Unisys has
unique
strengths in
the market-
place: our
end-to-end
services
portfolio,
our high-end
technology
offerings,
our industry-
oriented
approach.
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Regards,

Lawrence A. Weinbach
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We are a 
different
company
from what
we were 
just a few
years ago....

us $70 million of annualized cost savings on a run-rate basis by the end of 2005. At the same

time, we want to take our efficiency to the next level. This is why we have initiated a Six Sigma

program at Unisys. This is a longer-term program to create a highly efficient, lean organiza-

tion based on tight discipline and focused execution. Our program, which we are calling Six

Sigma Lean, is focused on enhancing productivity over a multiyear period by driving out

waste and redundancy and improving the quality, cost and time-performance of the business.

We have recently launched this program at Unisys, introducing it to our top management

and field sales and delivery force. In the coming months and years, we will progressively

expand the program to all our employees as we work toward creating a world-class culture of

discipline and focused execution at Unisys. We believe that creating this culture will be a major

contributor to our future success.

Commitment to Success 
These are aggressive initiatives. They will require the focus and execution of all our people to

succeed. And speaking for our management team and our 36,000-plus employees worldwide,

we are committed to the success of this company. We have come a long way in our corporate

transformation. We are a different company from what we were just a few years ago, and we

have just begun to tap our corporate potential. Yes, 2004 was a disappointing year, but we are

focused on getting back on track and regaining our momentum in the marketplace.

As we embark on this new stage of our transformation, we do so with a change in our

leadership team. On January 1, 2005, Joseph W. McGrath assumed the role of president and

chief executive officer. Joe previously served as president and chief operating officer, presi-

dent of Enterprise Transformation Services, and chief marketing officer. He has been instru-

mental in our company’s transformation over the past five years, and he is superbly

qualified to lead Unisys in the next level of success. He is supported by a strong team of

leaders, many of whom have joined us in recent years as part of our corporate transformation.

He will also be supported by Lawrence A. Weinbach, who will continue as executive

chairman through 2005.

The management team is confident in our company and our prospects in the market,

and we are focused on driving profitable growth and enhanced shareholder value.

Joseph W. McGrath
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The way we see things
is changing how our clients 
do business.

Unisys 3D Visible Enterprise (3D-VE) is more than our vision of the organization of the

future. Today, it’s an achievable and well-defined vision for Unisys clients. It’s called

“3D” because it looks at every facet of the organization, and “visible” because it sees

every cause-effect relationship between business vision, business operations and the

IT systems that support them.

3D-VE enables clients to make smarter business decisions by revealing interactions 

and hard-to-see relationships through the layers and key functions within their 

organizations. It reveals the cascading effects of change across all layers of the 

enterprise, from top-level strategy and business processes to applications and 

the underlying infrastructure. 3D-VE ensures true alignment between 

business strategy and the execution of that strategy through the 

methods, tools and techniques applied. The payoff: Clients improve 

productivity, reduce costs, eliminate redundancy, speed up cycle 

times and outmaneuver their competition.
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U.S. financial institution transforms payment

operations to capitalize on landmark legislation

and improve customer service. 

In 2004, the United States began implementing the

Check Clearing for the 21st Century Act (Check 21),

making electronic images the legal equivalent of paper

checks. Unisys is modernizing Comerica’s check-

imaging and data-archiving processes to seize the ben-

efits of image exchange. Unisys solutions provide the

bank with the flexibility to handle check images and

payment data securely and more efficiently, as well as

to better serve customers as market demands shift.

Using 3D-VE, Unisys analyzed Comerica’s existing

processes and helped formulate a transformation

strategy for the bank’s entire operations, including

fraud detection and new-product launches.

Judicial system increases ability to respond to

changing policies and evolving socio-economic

factors that affect the courts.

The Western Australia Department of Justice

managed a collection of 14 legacy systems to admin-

ister its court functions and related agencies. The

disparate systems were expensive to maintain and

impeded process improvements. Unisys developed

the Integrated Courts Management System, pro-

ducing a single application to serve the judiciary,

without forfeiting the specialized functionality that

the courts require. Using 3D-VE, Unisys helped

authorities define the overall application and tech-

nology architecture. The new system enables the

department to be more customer-focused, while 

3D-VE keeps business processes aligned as the

courts’ needs change.
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From our point 
of view,
the supply chain is
only as strong as
its weakest link.

Military branch improves management 

decision making, productivity and safety 

with RFID.

Unisys continues to innovate and enhance 

the U.S. Army’s In-Transit Visibility system

—one of the world’s largest RFID networks.

The system monitors thousands of pallets

and containers every day, using nearly 1,500

nodes located at airports, seaports and rail

terminals in 25 countries. For more than a

decade, Unisys know-how and support for

the RFID network have enabled the military 

to track and trace shipments, ranging from

food and water to ammunition, gasoline and 

uniforms. This visibility enhances the effi-

ciency of the Army’s supply chain, reducing

costs and increasing military readiness.

For businesses and governments everywhere, the

world is getting smaller, and supply chains are getting

more complex. What you find on a store shelf may

have traveled halfway around the world to reach its

destination on target and on time. To ensure such

successful transport, supply chains require unprec-

edented visibility—and they demand protection like

never before.

We have responded with Unisys Global Visible 

Commerce, an end-to-end family of solutions that

enable businesses and governments to track, trace

and secure goods and assets. Our approach improves

business processes and integrates existing systems

with emerging technologies, such as radio frequency 

identification (RFID) and other tracking technologies.

Beyond managing risk, Unisys Global Visible 

Commerce adds value through better inventory 

management, reduced operating costs and greater

responsiveness to customers and disruptions.
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We’ve set our sights
on building the
most agile server
infrastructure for
the enterprise.

Financial services leader adopts long-range 

IT strategy to reduce costs, increase 

flexibility and closely align resources with

changing business conditions.

In the Netherlands, SNS REAAL Group

uses a Unisys solution to run, manage and

maintain its infrastructure in a smarter, more

cost-efficient way. Today, the retail banking

and insurance company relies on three

ClearPath Plus Libra servers to power and

back up all its mission-critical core applications.

Our systems streamline about 900 million

online transactions per year in the client’s 24/7

environment. Moreover, Unisys devised an

innovative “metering” model that allows SNS

REAAL Group to pay for only the power that it

uses. This model dynamically delivers extra

processing power when demand peaks, 

providing a solution that aligns the client’s IT

costs with its actual business needs.

Unisys is well-known for its highly reliable

servers; however, it’s our technical services that

lead to the delivery of optimal solutions for effi-

ciency today and flexibility tomorrow. Using our

software tools, we help customers understand

how their applications and business require-

ments coalesce today, and how these needs are

likely to change. Then, we use this information

to develop long-term strategies that keep their

data center infrastructures closely aligned as the

business evolves.

On this foundation, companies and government

agencies worldwide are building flexible, agile

infrastructures around Unisys servers. The

ClearPath Plus is our “modern mainframe”—

designed to provide the best of mainframe relia-

bility and security with the value of the latest

solutions. In addition, the ES7000 continues 

our mission-critical heritage of building high-

performance transaction-processing platforms

running Microsoft Windows and Linux software.



10

Latin American mobile communications

provider creates region’s first Internet 

protocol (IP)-based messaging system.

Unisys installed its Communications Ensemble 

platform for Telefonica Moviles de Mexico,

using IP technology to serve more than 2 million

voice mail users. The IT infrastructure and distrib-

uted network, designed and deployed by Unisys,

power the IP-based telephony system. Compared

with traditional modes of voice messaging, 

transporting voice via IP technology delivers signifi-

cant savings and improved service for Telefonica

Moviles, the largest mobile operator in the world’s

Spanish- and Portuguese-speaking markets.

Municipality saves money, frees up internal 

IT resources and delivers improved 24/7

public services.

Unisys has established an award-winning infra-

structure outsourcing relationship with the City 

of Minneapolis that takes the load—and millions 

of dollars in IT costs—off the city’s shoulders. Unisys

handles service desk, software support and mainte-

nance for all the city’s desktops, laptops, PDAs and

peripherals. In addition, Unisys provides data center

administration, network monitoring and disaster

recovery services. Minneapolis has also turned over

ownership of its 2,700 desktops and 100-plus servers

to Unisys. And to provide first-class client services,

Unisys staffs an on-site program management 

office that provides a single point of contact for all 

IT requirements.

Out of sight,
top of mind.

Infrastructure Services

Market leaders value their IT infrastructure

as a strategic asset. In fact, they continually

find new ways to get better visibility into

their business to improve productivity,

increase operational efficiency, contain costs

and maximize return on IT investments. They

know that a secure, well-managed infrastruc-

ture maximizes business opportunities and

minimizes risk.

Unisys Infrastructure Services holistically 

combines comprehensive planning, design,

implementation, security and outsourced 

management capabilities. Our global service

delivery infrastructure, led by our network of

Managed Services Centres, provides full 

visibility into the performance of the client’s

infrastructure and ensures consistent service

delivery anytime, anywhere. In addition,

Unisys security experts provide strategies

and solutions—from identity and access

management to managed security services

—that help clients manage risk and create a

trusted enterprise environment. 
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Systems Integration

To realize its vision, an organization must

devise a cohesive strategy and unified busi-

ness plan. However, diverse systems and

legacy applications often get in the way. 

With 50 years of systems integration experi-

ence, Unisys brings extensive knowledge of

proprietary and open systems—and we know

how to make them work together. What’s

more, we collaborate with an array of

strategic partners whose solutions are the

best in the business. Our global expertise 

in integrating these solutions within legacy

infrastructures helps clients protect their 

IT investment, reduce costs, increase 

operational efficiencies and achieve real

return on investment.

Major Chinese airport takes operational 

efficiency, airport management and passenger-

processing improvements to new heights.

Unisys designed and installed a centralized informa-

tion management system for the new Guangzhou

Baiyan International Airport, where some 

25 million passengers and a million tons of freight

arrive and depart each year. Unisys helped

Guangzhou authorities visualize future operations

and re-engineer business processes, leading to a

sophisticated system that integrates, stores and

supplies information for the entire airport commu-

nity. At the core is the Unisys Airport Operations

Management Solution, a high-volume database that

constantly receives flight-related information from

the airlines, ground handlers and air traffic control.

Data is disseminated real-time to key airport staff,

government agencies and the public.
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Our field of vision
has no boundaries.

As one of the leading full-service outsourcing providers in the

world, Unisys is helping to transform our clients’ operations and

the outsourcing landscape. Our business process outsourcing

engagements reach into such areas as payments, insurance and

health care administration. Organizations also turn to Unisys IT 

outsourcing services, from the data center to the distributed IT

infrastructure of networks, desktops and mobile/wireless systems.

In addition, our global teams provide ongoing management of 

mission-critical services in complex, high-transaction environments.
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Largest U.S. cable company looks to Unisys 

to improve remittance-processing efficiency.

Unisys manages approximately two-thirds of all

remittance payments mailed by Comcast Cable

customers. Together, Unisys and Comcast devel-

oped an image-based workflow solution that

replaced some paper-intensive processes, signifi-

cantly speeding up delivery of payment-related

correspondence. In addition, Unisys created an

online archive that contains images of all remit-

tance payments and related correspondence. 

This gives Comcast staff real-time access to data

when handling inquiries, sharpening their focus

on customer service.

Major Dutch banks join business 

process “utility.”

Unisys Payment Services and Solutions

(UPSS) has taken over document processing 

for four financial institutions, accounting for nearly

35 percent of all paper-related payments

processed in the Netherlands. Unisys created

UPSS as an outsourcing utility, with the banks

sharing common costs for the processing and

image archiving of checks, credit card slips and

other paper documents. In return, UPSS delivers

continual process improvement, technological

innovation and economies of scale that lower

costs—all while processing approximately 110

million documents per year. UPSS serves as a

business utility model for banks in Benelux and

across Europe to transform their paper-based and

electronic payment operations.

Unisys is at the forefront of a major trend 

that’s empowering organizations to shape the

future of their industries. It’s a business utility 

in which organizations, including competitors, 

collaborate with a service provider to perform their

core business functions. Unisys manages the

utility, providing outsourcing services in business

processes, applications and IT infrastructure for

the member organizations. Furthermore, we focus

on re-engineering processes to help our clients

reduce costs and develop new sources of rev-

enue. Most important, the participants become a

collective force in expediting the transformation of

their entire industry.
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When it comes to
social responsibility,
we look at the 
big picture.

In every corner of the globe, Unisys people are

working together and partnering with others to

leave an indelible impression on the communities

where we do business. From environmental

stewardship to diversity to volunteerism, Unisys

understands that social responsibility enhances

our reputation and strengthens long-term 

relationships with clients, partners and others,

who prefer doing business with a responsible 

corporate citizen.

For Unisys, 2004 marked the third consecutive

year that we earned a place in the Dow Jones

Sustainability Indexes (DJSI). This selection recog-

nizes Unisys proactive policies in responsibly

managing the economic, environmental and social

aspects of doing business. DJSI comprises some

300 global leaders, and this year, Unisys ranked

first in the Technology Services Sector.

Unisys believes in conducting business with

respect and concern for the environment. For

example, we promote recycling programs 

worldwide and frequently incorporate recycled

materials into our products. In fact, since 1997,

more than 22 million pounds of obsolete products

have been collected and processed through

Unisys parts-recovery facilities and third parties,

with many of the parts refurbished for future use.

In every geography, Unisys supports diversity

councils, composed of our employees, whose

leadership spans gender, ethnicity and cultures.

These councils are champions of diversity,

building an inclusive environment that maximizes

the potential of every employee. The individual

talents and skills of Unisys people also shine

through the power of volunteerism. The Unisys

CARES (Community Awards Recognizing

Employee Service) program honors dedicated 

volunteers worldwide, and it rewards the 

nonprofit groups that help improve the quality of

life—one community at a time.



Randy J. Hendricks
Vice president and
president, global 
outsourcing and infra-
structure services. A
Unisys officer since
2005. Age 48.

Richard D. Badler
Senior vice president, 
corporate communica-
tions. A Unisys officer
since 1998. Age 54.

Greg J. Baroni
Vice president and 
president, global public
sector. A Unisys officer
since 2004. Age 51.

Scott A. Battersby
Vice president and treas-
urer. A Unisys officer
since 2000. Age 46.

Peter Blackmore
Executive vice president
and president, world-
wide sales and mar-
keting. A Unisys officer
since 2005. Age 57.

Carol S. Sabochick
Vice president and 
corporate controller. 
A Unisys officer since
2002. Age 44.

Leo C. Daiuto
Vice president and 
president, systems and
technology. A Unisys
officer since 2000. 
Age 59.

Dominick Cavuoto
Vice president and 
president, global finan-
cial services. A Unisys
officer since 2004. 
Age 51.

Patricia A. Bradford
Vice president, world-
wide human resources.
A Unisys officer since
2005. Age 54.

George R. Gazerwitz*
Vice chairman. A Unisys
officer since 1984. 
Age 64.

*Retiring March 31, 2005.

Janet Brutschea
Haugen
Senior vice president 
and chief financial
officer. A Unisys officer
since 1996. Age 46.

Joseph W. McGrath
President and chief
executive officer. A
Unisys officer since
1999. Age 52.

Jack F. McHale
Vice president, investor
relations. A Unisys
officer since 1986. 
Age 55.

Nancy Straus 
Sundheim
Senior vice president, 
general counsel and 
secretary. A Unisys
officer since 1999. 
Age 53.

Janet B. Wallace
Executive vice president,
Six Sigma Lean. A
Unisys officer since
2000. Age 53.

Lawrence A. Weinbach
Chairman of the board. A
Unisys officer since 1997.
Age 65.
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Board of Directors

J.P. Bolduc
Chairman and chief executive
officer of JPB Enterprises Inc., a
merchant banking, venture capital
and real estate investment holding
company, and chief executive
officer of J.A. Jones, a multina-
tional construction and construc-
tion-related services company.
Previously president and chief
executive officer, vice chairman
and chief operating officer of W.R.
Grace & Co., a specialty chemicals
and health care company. Director
of Proudfoot PLC and EnPro
Industries Inc. Joined board in
1992. Age 65.3

Edwin A. Huston
Retired vice chairman,
Ryder System Inc., an
international logistics and
transportation solutions
company. Previously senior
executive vice president,
finance, and chief financial
officer. Director of Answer-
think Inc., Enterasys Net-
works Inc. and Kaman
Corp. Joined board in
1993. Age 66.1

Randall J. Hogan
Director, chairman and chief
executive officer of Pentair
Inc., a diversified manufac-
turer of water and waste-
water transport, storage
and treatment products and
enclosures for the protec-
tion of electronic controls
and components. Previ-
ously president and chief
operating officer and execu-
tive vice president of Pen-
tair and president of its
Electronic Enclosures
Group. Joined board in
2004. Age 49.4

Clayton M. Jones
Director and chairman,
president and chief exec-
utive officer of Rockwell
Collins Inc., a global avia-
tion electronics and com-
munications company.
Previously executive vice
president of that company
and senior vice president
of its former parent com-
pany, Rockwell Interna-
tional Corp. Joined board
in 2004. Age 55.2

Theodore E. Martin
Retired president and chief
executive officer of Barnes
Group Inc., a manufacturer
and distributor of automo-
tive and aircraft components
and maintenance products.
Previously executive vice
president, operations.
Director of Ingersoll-Rand
Co., Applera Corp. and C.R.
Bard Inc. Joined board in
1995. Age 65.1,2

Joseph W. McGrath
Unisys president and chief
executive officer. Joined
Unisys in 1999. Served as
president and chief oper-
ating officer from April 2004
to January 2005. Previously
executive vice president and
president of the company’s
enterprise transformation
services business; senior
vice president, major
accounts sales; and chief
marketing officer. Joined
board in 2005. Age 52.

Lawrence A. Weinbach
Unisys chairman of the board.
Joined Unisys in 1997 as
chairman, president and chief
executive officer. In April 2004,
he stepped down as presi-
dent; he stepped down as
chief executive officer, effec-
tive January 1, 2005. Previ-
ously managing partner and
chief executive, Andersen
Worldwide, a global profes-
sional services organization.
Director of Avon Products Inc.
and UBS AG. Joined board in
1997. Age 65.

Dr. James J. 
Duderstadt
President emeritus and 
university professor of 
science and engineering at
the University of Michigan.
Joined board in 1990. 
Age 62.4

Henry C. Duques
Retired chairman and
chief executive officer 
of First Data Corp., an
electronic commerce
and payment services
company. Director of
SunGard Data Systems
Inc. Joined board in
1998. Age 61.2

From left to right

Denise K. Fletcher
Chief financial officer of DaVita
Inc., an independent provider of
dialysis services, and previously
senior vice president, special
advisor to the chief executive
officer. Former executive vice
president and chief financial
officer of MasterCard Interna-
tional, an international payment
solutions company. Previously
chief financial officer of Bowne
Inc., a global document man-
agement and information 
services provider. Director of
Sempra Energy. Joined board 
in 2001. Age 56.1,4

Matthew J. Espe
Director, chairman and chief
executive officer of IKON
Office Solutions Inc., a
provider of integrated docu-
ment management systems
and services. Previously with
General Electric Co., most
recently serving as president
and chief executive officer of
GE Lighting. Joined board in
2004. Age 45.3
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The Unisys Board of Directors

The board of directors is responsible for overseeing the 
business and affairs of the company.

Committees: The board of directors has a standing audit
committee, compensation committee, finance committee,
and nominating and corporate governance committee.

The Audit Committee: Assists the board in its oversight of
the integrity of the company’s financial statements and its
financial reporting and disclosure practices, the soundness 
of its systems of internal financial and accounting controls,
the independence and qualifications of its independent
registered public accounting firm, the performance of its
internal auditors and independent registered public
accounting firm, the company’s compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, and the soundness of its ethical
and environmental compliance programs.

The Compensation Committee: Oversees the compensation 
of the company’s executives, the company’s executive
management structure, the compensation-related policies
and programs involving the company’s executive
management, and the level of benefits of officers and key
employees. It also oversees the company’s diversity programs.

The Finance Committee: Oversees the company’s financial
affairs, including its capital structure, financial arrangements,
capital spending, and acquisition and disposition plans.
It also oversees the management and investment of funds 
in the pension, savings and welfare plans sponsored by 
the company.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee:
Identifies and reviews candidates and recommends to the
board of directors nominees for membership on the board
of directors. Oversees the company’s corporate governance.

Classification of Directors: The board of directors
currently consists of 11 members, divided into three classes.
One class of directors is elected each year to hold office for a
three-year term. Nine of the 11 directors are independent
directors.

Compensation of Board

In 2004, the company’s nonemployee directors received an
annual $50,000 retainer, an annual $10,000 attendance fee
for regularly scheduled board and committee meetings, and
a meeting fee of $1,000 for attendance at certain additional 

board and committee meetings. In addition, the
chairpersons of the compensation, the finance, and the
nominating and corporate governance committees received
an annual $5,000 retainer, and the chairperson of the audit
committee received an annual $10,000 retainer. In February
2005, the fee for attendance at additional meetings was
increased from $1,000 to $1,500, and the annual retainer for
the chair of the audit committee was increased from $10,000
to $20,000. During 2004, each nonemployee director also
received an option to purchase 12,000 shares of Unisys
common stock. These stock options vest in four equal
annual installments beginning one year after the date of
grant. The annual retainers and annual attendance fee are
paid in monthly installments, with 50 percent of each
installment paid in cash and 50 percent in the form of
common stock equivalent units. The value of each stock unit
at any point in time is equal to the value of one share of
Unisys common stock. Stock units are recorded in a
memorandum account maintained for each director. A
director’s stock unit account is payable in Unisys common
stock, either upon termination of service or on a date
specified by the director, at the director’s option. Directors
do not have the right to vote with respect to any stock units.
Directors also have the opportunity to defer until
termination of service, or until a specified date, all or a
portion of their cash fees. Any deferred cash amounts, and
earnings or losses thereon, are recorded in a memorandum
account maintained for each director. The right to receive
future payments of deferred cash accounts is an unsecured
claim against the company’s general assets. Directors who
are employees of the company do not receive any cash, stock
units or stock options for their services as directors.

Certifications

Each year, within 30 days after its annual meeting, the
company is required to file a certification from its chief
executive officer (CEO) with the New York Stock Exchange
certifying to the company’s compliance with the exchange’s
corporate governance listing standards. The company
provided the certification for 2004 to the exchange on May
20, 2004. The company is also required to file certifications
from its CEO and chief financial officer with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC) regarding the quality of
the company’s public disclosure. The certifications for 2004
were filed with the SEC as exhibits to the company’s 2004
Form 10-K.



1. A majority of the board of directors shall qualify as 
independent under the listing standards of the New York
Stock Exchange.

2. The nominating and corporate governance committee
reviews annually with the board the independence of outside
directors. Following this review, only those directors who
meet the independence qualifications prescribed by the New
York Stock Exchange and who the board affirmatively deter-
mines have no material relationship with the company will be
considered independent. The board has determined that the
following commercial or charitable relationships will not be
considered to be material relationships that would impair
independence: (a) if a director is an executive officer or
partner of, or owns more than a 10 percent equity interest in,
a company that does business with Unisys, and sales to or
purchases from Unisys are less than 1 percent of the annual
revenues of that company and (b) if a director is an officer,
director or trustee of a charitable organization, and Unisys
donates less than 1 percent of that organization’s charitable
receipts.

3. Directors should not, except in rare circumstances
approved by the board, draw any consulting, legal or other
fees from the company. In no event shall any member of the
audit committee receive any compensation from the company
other than directors’ fees.

4. Membership on the audit, compensation, and nominating
and corporate governance committees is limited to directors
who meet the independence criteria of the New York Stock
Exchange.

5. Directors may not stand for election after age 70 or con-
tinue to serve beyond the annual stockholders’ meeting fol-
lowing the attainment of age 70.

6. Directors should volunteer to resign from the board upon
a change in position, including retirement, from the position
they held when they were elected to the board. The board,
through the nominating and corporate governance com-
mittee, will then make a determination whether continued
board membership is appropriate under the circumstances. In
addition, if the company’s chief executive officer resigns from
that position, he is expected to offer his resignation from the
board at the same time.

7. The nominating and corporate governance committee is
responsible for determining the appropriate skills and char-
acteristics required of board members in the context of its
current makeup and will consider factors such as indepen-
dence, experience, strength of character, mature judgment,
technical skills, diversity and age in its assessment of the
needs of the board.

8. The company should maintain an orientation program for
new directors and continuing education programs for all
directors.

9. The board will conduct an annual self-evaluation to deter-
mine whether it and its committees are functioning effectively.

10. The nonmanagement directors will meet in executive 
session at all regularly scheduled board meetings. They may
also meet in executive session at any time upon request.
The position of presiding director for these executive sessions
will rotate, meeting by meeting, among the chairpersons of
the audit, compensation, finance, and nominating and 
governance committees.

11. The nonmanagement directors will evaluate the perform-
ance of the chief executive officer annually and will meet in
executive session, led by the chairperson of the compensa-
tion committee, to review this performance. The evaluation
is based on objective criteria, including performance of the
business, accomplishment of long-term strategic objectives
and development of management. Based on this evaluation,
the compensation committee will recommend, and the
members of the board who meet the independence criteria of
the New York Stock Exchange will determine and approve,
the compensation of the chief executive officer.

12. To assist the board in its planning for the succession to
the position of chief executive officer, the chief executive
officer is expected to provide an annual report on succession
planning to the compensation committee.

13. Board members have complete access to Unisys manage-
ment. Members of senior management who are not board
members regularly attend board meetings, and the board
encourages senior management, from time to time, to bring
into board meetings other managers who can provide 
additional insights into the matters under discussion.

14. The board and its committees have the right at any time
to retain independent outside financial, legal or other advisors.
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Our board of directors has adopted corporate governance 
guidelines that cover, among other things, the following:

Note: For the full text of committee charters and governance guide-
lines, as well as more information about corporate governance, see our
Web site: www.unisys.com/investor.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

In 2004 the company’s financial results were impacted by a number of factors that resulted in lower earnings
compared with 2003. Operationally, the company experienced execution issues in several of its large,
transformational business process outsourcing engagements. These contracts involve transitioning from the
client’s legacy environment to a new, state-of-the-art environment with new processes and software. The
company underestimated the amount of time and related expense needed to complete this transition to the
new environment. It has taken the company longer to develop the new software and transition to the new
processes. This has resulted in higher-than-expected costs on the contracts, not only in terms of creating the
new technology and processes, but also in the salary costs involved in the legacy operation. While the company
has experienced transitional issues in these engagements, it has continued to meet service level agreements and
achieve targeted cost reductions for clients. The company is addressing these execution issues but expects the
issues to continue to impact its results into 2005. Despite the issues discussed above, the company remains
committed to the outsourcing business. Outsourcing is the fastest-growing area of the IT services industry, and
with the company’s end-to-end services portfolio and vertical industry focus, the company believes it has the
appropriate capabilities to succeed in this market. In addition, the company experienced a decline in sales of
large enterprise servers. Lower sales of these systems, which are highly profitable, significantly contributed to
the lower earnings in 2004. The company expects the challenges in the outsourcing engagements, and the
weakness in high-end enterprise server sales, to continue to impact its financial results in 2005.

The company’s results in 2004 included the following significant items:

• The company recorded a pretax, non-cash impairment charge of $125.6 million, or $.26 per share, to
write off all of the contract-related assets related to one of the company’s outsourcing operations. See
Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• During the fourth quarter of 2004, the company favorably settled various income tax audit issues. As a
result of the settlements, the company recorded a tax benefit of $28.8 million, or $.09 per share. See Note
3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• To reduce costs, on September 30, 2004 the company consolidated facility space and committed to a work
force reduction of about 1,400 positions, primarily in general and administrative areas. These actions
resulted in an after-tax charge to earnings of $60.0 million, or $.18 per diluted share, in the third quarter
of 2004. See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• In the third quarter of 2004, the U.S. Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation approved an income
tax refund to the company related to the settlement of tax audit issues dating from the mid-1980s. As a
result of the resolution of these audit issues, the company recorded a tax benefit of $68.2 million, or $.20
per diluted share, to net income in 2004. See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

• In 2004, the company experienced a significant impact to its earnings due to pension accounting. In 2004,
the company recorded pretax pension expense of $93.6 million compared with pretax pension income of
$22.6 million in 2003 – a year-over-year increase in expense of $116.2 million. Despite the impact of the year-
over-year increase in pension expense, the company’s cash requirements for its pension plans in 2004 of $63
million were flat compared with 2003. The company expects its reported earnings in 2005 to be impacted by
a further significant increase in pension expense. See the discussion of “Pensions” later in this Management’s
Discussion and Analysis as well as Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Largely as a result of these factors, the company reported lower earnings in 2004 compared with 2003.
In 2004, the company reported net income of $38.6 million, or $.11 per diluted share, compared with net
income of $258.7 million, or $.78 per diluted share, in 2003. In 2002, the company reported net income of
$223.0 million, or $.69 per share.

Unisys Corporation
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Results of operations

Company results

Revenue for 2004 was $5.82 billion compared with $5.91 billion in 2003 and $5.61 billion in 2002. Revenue in
2004 decreased 2% from the prior year. This decrease was due to a 10% decline in Technology revenue offset
in part by an increase of 1% in Services revenue. Foreign currency fluctuations had a 4% positive impact on
revenue in 2004 compared with 2003. Revenue in 2003 increased 5% from the prior year. The increase was due
to an increase of 9% in Services revenue offset in part by an 8% decline in Technology revenue. Foreign
currency fluctuations had a 4% positive impact on revenue in 2003 compared with 2002. Revenue from
international operations in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $3.18 billion, $3.15 billion and $3.11 billion, respectively.
On a constant currency basis, international revenue declined 7% in 2004 compared with 2003. Revenue from
U.S. operations was $2.64 billion in 2004, $2.76 billion in 2003 and $2.50 billion in 2002.

Pension expense for 2004 was $93.6 million compared with pension income of $22.6 million in 2003
and pension income of $143.5 million in 2002. The change to pension expense in 2004 from pension
income in 2003 was due to the following: (a) a decline in the discount rate used for the U.S. qualified
defined benefit pension plan to 6.25% at December 31, 2003 from 6.75% at December 31, 2002, (b) an
increase in amortization of net unrecognized losses, (c) lower expected returns on plan assets due to four-
year smoothing of the differences between the calculated value of plan assets and the fair value of plan
assets, and (d) for international plans, declines in discount rates and the effects of currency translation. The
principal reasons for the decline in pension income in 2003 from 2002 were the following: (a) effective
January 1, 2003, the company reduced its expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for its U.S.
pension plan to 8.75% from 9.50%, (b) the discount rate used for the U.S. pension plan declined to 6.75%
at December 31, 2002 from 7.50% at December 31, 2001, (c) lower expected return on U.S. plan assets due to
asset declines and the company’s change as of January 1, 2003 to a cash balance plan in the U.S., and (d) for
international plans, declines in discount rates, lower expected long-term rates of return on plan assets, and
currency translation. The company records pension income or expense, as well as other employee-related
costs such as payroll taxes and medical insurance costs, in operating income in the following income
statement categories: cost of sales; selling, general and administrative expenses; and research and
development expenses. The amount allocated to each category is based on where the salaries of active
employees are charged.

Total gross profit percent was 23.4% in 2004, 29.0% in 2003 and 30.1% in 2002. The decrease in gross
profit percent in 2004 compared with 2003 principally reflected (a) the $125.6 million impairment charge in
2004, (b) a $28.1 million charge in 2004 relating to the cost reduction actions, (c) pension expense of $67.2
million in 2004 compared with pension expense of $1.3 million in 2003, and (d) execution issues in 2004 in
several outsourcing contracts. The decrease in gross profit percent in 2003 compared with 2002 principally
reflected pension expense of $1.3 million in 2003 and pension income of $73.0 million in 2002.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $1.10 billion in 2004 (18.9% of revenue), $1.01 billion
in 2003 (17.0% of revenue) and $.99 billion in 2002 (17.7% of revenue). The increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses in 2004 was principally due to (a) a $50.2 million charge in 2004 relating to the
cost reduction actions, (b) $18.3 million of pension expense in 2004 compared with pension income of $9.7
million in 2003, and (c) the impact of foreign currency exchange rates. The increase in expense in 2003 was
principally due to (a) pension income of $9.7 million in 2003 compared with pension income of $39.4
million in 2002 and (b) the impact of foreign currency exchange rates, offset, in part, by continued tight
cost controls.

Research and development (R&D) expenses in 2004 were $294.3 million compared with $280.1 million
in 2003 and $273.3 million in 2002. The company continues to invest in high-end Cellular MultiProcessing
(CMP) server technology and in key programs within its industry practices. R&D in 2004 includes an $8.4
million charge relating to the cost reduction actions as well as $8.1 million of pension expense compared
with pension income of $14.2 million in 2003. The increase in expense in 2003 compared with 2002 was
principally due to lower pension income of $14.2 million in 2003 compared with pension income of $31.1
million in 2002.
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In 2004, the company reported a pretax operating loss of $34.8 million compared with pretax
operating income of $427.7 million in 2003 and income of $423.2 million in 2002. The operating loss in
2004 principally reflected (a) the $125.6 million impairment charge, (b) an $86.7 million charge relating to
the cost reduction actions, (c) pension expense of $93.6 million in 2004 compared with pension income of
$22.6 million in 2003, and (d) execution issues in 2004 in several outsourcing contracts.

Interest expense was $69.0 million in 2004, $69.6 million in 2003 and $66.5 million in 2002.
Other income (expense), net, which can vary from year to year, was income of $27.8 million in 2004,

compared with income of $22.4 million in 2003 and expense of $23.9 million in 2002. The difference in 2004
from 2003 was principally due to foreign exchange losses of $5.2 million in 2004 compared with foreign
exchange losses of $11.3 million in 2003. The difference in 2003 from 2002 was principally due to equity
income of $18.3 million in 2003 compared with a loss of $12.4 million in 2002. Specifically in 2003, the
company recognized $12.2 million income related to its share of a subsidy recorded by Nihon Unisys, Ltd.
(NUL) upon transfer of a portion of its pension plan obligation to the Japanese government. In 2002, the
company recognized a charge of $21.8 million related to its share of an early retirement charge recorded by
NUL. In addition in 2003, the company recorded $10.7 million of income related to minority investors’ share
of companies owned 51% by the company, compared with $.3 million in 2002. Partially offsetting these items
were foreign exchange losses in 2003 of $11.3 million compared with losses in 2002 of $1.2 million.

Income before income taxes in 2004 was a loss of $76.0 million compared with income of $380.5
million in 2003 and income of $332.8 million in 2002.

The provision for income taxes in 2004 was a benefit of $114.6 million compared with a provision of
$121.8 million in 2003 and a provision of $109.8 million in 2002. The 2004 benefit for taxes includes (a) a
benefit of $68.2 million related to the tax refund, (b) a benefit of $28.8 million related to the other favorable
income tax audit settlements, (c) a $37.7 million benefit related to the impairment charge, and (d) a $22.0
million benefit related to the cost reduction actions.

At December 31, 2004, the company owned approximately 29% of the voting common stock of NUL. NUL
is the exclusive supplier of the company’s hardware and software products in Japan. The company accounts for
this investment by the equity method. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, total direct and
indirect sales to NUL were approximately $240 million, $275 million and $270 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2004, the market value of the company’s investment in NUL was approximately $318
million and the amount of this investment recorded on the company’s books was $196 million, which is net
of $47 million relating to the company’s share of NUL’s minimum pension liability adjustment. The market
value is determined by both the quoted price per share of NUL’s shares on the Tokyo stock exchange and
the current exchange rate of the Japanese yen to the U.S. dollar. At any point in time, the company’s book
value may be higher or lower than the market value. The company would reflect impairment in this
investment only if a loss in value of the investment were deemed to be other than a temporary decline.

Segments results

The company has two business segments: Services and Technology. Revenue classifications by segment are
as follows: Services – consulting and systems integration, outsourcing, infrastructure services and core
maintenance; Technology – enterprise-class servers and specialized technologies. The accounting policies of
each business segment are the same as those followed by the company as a whole. Intersegment sales and
transfers are priced as if the sales or transfers were to third parties. Accordingly, the Technology segment
recognizes intersegment revenue and manufacturing profit on hardware and software shipments to
customers under Services contracts. The Services segment, in turn, recognizes customer revenue and
marketing profit on such shipments of company hardware and software to customers. The Services
segment also includes the sale of hardware and software products sourced from third parties that are sold
to customers through the company’s Services channels. In the company’s consolidated statements of
income, the manufacturing costs of products sourced from the Technology segment and sold to Services
customers are reported in cost of revenue for Services.
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Also included in the Technology segment’s sales and operating profit are sales of hardware and
software sold to the Services segment for internal use in Services agreements. The amount of such profit
included in operating income of the Technology segment for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, was $17.9 million, $24.4 million and $19.2 million, respectively. The profit on these transactions is
eliminated in Corporate.

The company evaluates business segment performance on operating income exclusive of restructuring
charges and unusual and nonrecurring items, which are included in Corporate. All other corporate and
centrally incurred costs are allocated to the business segments, based principally on revenue, employees,
square footage or usage. Therefore, the segment comparisons below exclude the cost reduction items
mentioned above. See Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Information by business segment for 2004, 2003 and 2002 is presented below:

In the Services segment, customer revenue was $4.72 billion in 2004, $4.69 billion in 2003 and $4.29
billion in 2002. Foreign currency translation had about a 5% positive impact on Services revenue in 2004
compared with 2003. Revenue in 2004 was up 1% from 2003, principally due to a 4% increase in consulting
and systems integration ($1.65 billion in 2004 compared with $1.60 billion in 2003) and a 3% increase in
outsourcing ($1.73 billion in 2004 compared with $1.68 billion in 2003) offset, in part, by an 8% decrease in
infrastructure services ($.77 billion in 2004 compared with $.84 billion in 2003). Core maintenance revenue
was flat year-to-year at $.57 billion. Revenue in 2003 was up 9% from 2002, principally due to a 17%
increase in outsourcing ($1.68 billion in 2003 compared with $1.44 billion in 2002), a 10% increase in
consulting and systems integration ($1.60 billion in 2003 compared with $1.46 billion in 2002), a 1%
increase in infrastructure services ($.84 billion in 2003 compared with $.83 billion in 2002) and a 3%
increase in core maintenance ($.57 billion in 2003 compared with $.56 billion in 2002). In 2003, the
consulting and systems integration business benefited from growth in the company’s U.S. Federal
government business.

(millions of dollars) Total Eliminations Services Technology

2004
Customer revenue $5,820.7 $4,724.7 $1,096.0
Intersegment $ (251.8) 18.1 233.7

Total revenue $5,820.7 $ (251.8) $4,742.8 $1,329.7
Gross profit percent 23.4% 14.8% 51.7%
Operating income percent (.6)% (1.7)% 10.2%

2003
Customer revenue $5,911.2 $4,691.9 $1,219.3
Intersegment $ (319.8) 25.9 293.9

Total revenue $5,911.2 $ (319.8) $4,717.8 $1,513.2
Gross profit percent 29.0% 20.2% 50.4%
Operating income percent 7.2% 5.0% 12.7%

2002
Customer revenue $5,607.4 $4,285.1 $1,322.3
Intersegment $ (331.9) 38.8 293.1

Total revenue $5,607.4 $ (331.9) $4,323.9 $1,615.4
Gross profit percent 30.1% 22.2% 46.5%
Operating income percent 7.5% 5.9% 11.7%

Gross profit percent and operating income percent are as a percent of total revenue.
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Services gross profit was 14.8% in 2004, 20.2% in 2003 and 22.2% in 2002. The decline in 2004 was
principally due to (a) the $125.6 million impairment charge in 2004 and (b) pension expense of $65.7
million in 2004 compared with pension expense of $4.7 million in 2003. The decline in 2003 was principally
due to pension expense of $4.7 million in 2003 compared with pension income of $63.4 million in 2002.
Services operating income (loss) percent was (1.7)% in 2004 compared with 5.0% in 2003 and 5.9% in 2002.
The decline in 2004 operating income was principally due to the $125.6 million impairment charge in 2004
and pension expense of $81.1 million in 2004 compared with pension income of $4.6 million in 2003. The
decline in operating income in 2003 was principally due to pension income of $4.6 million in 2003
compared with pension income of $92.3 million in 2002.

In the Technology segment, customer revenue was $1.10 billion in 2004, $1.22 billion in 2003 and $1.32
billion in 2002. Demand throughout the period in the Technology segment remained weak as customers
continued to defer spending on new computer hardware and software. Foreign currency translation had a
positive impact of approximately 3% on Technology revenue in 2004 compared with 2003. Revenue in 2004
was down 10% from 2003, due to a 22% decrease in sales of specialized technology products ($.23 billion in
2004 compared with $.29 billion in 2003) and a 6% decline in sales of enterprise-class servers ($.87 billion
in 2004 compared with $.93 billion in 2003). Revenue in 2003 decreased 8% from 2002 due to a 21%
decrease in sales of specialized technology products ($.29 billion in 2003 compared with $.37 billion in
2002) and a 3% decline in sales of enterprise-class servers ($.93 billion in 2003 compared with $.96 billion
in 2002).

Technology gross profit was 51.7% in 2004, 50.4% in 2003 and 46.5% in 2002. Gross profit included
pension expense of $1.5 million in 2004 compared with pension income of $3.4 million in 2003 and
pension income of $9.6 million in 2002. The margin improvements in 2004 and 2003 primarily reflected a
richer mix of higher-margin ClearPath servers and software offset in part by the effect of pension
accounting. Technology operating income percent was 10.2% in 2004 compared with 12.7% in 2003 and
11.7% in 2002. The decline in operating income percent in 2004 was principally due to pension expense of
$12.5 million in 2004 compared with pension income of $18.0 million in 2003. The margin improvements
in 2003 primarily reflected a richer mix of higher-margin ClearPath servers and software offset in part by
lower pension income.

New accounting pronouncements

On December 21, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position No.
FAS 109-2 (FSP No. 109-2), “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation
Provisions within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (the Jobs Act). FSP No. 109-2 provides guidance
with respect to reporting the potential impact of the repatriation provisions of the Jobs Act on an
enterprise’s income tax expense and deferred tax liability. The Jobs Act was enacted on October 22, 2004,
and provides for a temporary 85% dividends received deduction on certain foreign earnings repatriated
during a one-year period. The deduction would result in an approximate 5.25% federal tax rate on the
repatriated earnings. To qualify for the deduction, the earnings must be reinvested in the United States
pursuant to a domestic reinvestment plan established by a company’s chief executive officer and approved
by a company’s board of directors. Certain other criteria in the Jobs Act must be satisfied as well. FSP No.
109-2 states that an enterprise is allowed time beyond the financial reporting period to evaluate the effect of
the Jobs Act on its plan for reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings. Although the company has not
yet completed its evaluation of the impact of the repatriation provisions of the Jobs Act, the company does
not expect that these provisions will have a material impact on its consolidated financial position,
consolidated results of operations, or liquidity. Accordingly, as provided for in FSP No. 109-2, the company
has not adjusted its tax expense or deferred tax liability to reflect the repatriation provisions of the Jobs Act.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123
(revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No. 123R), which replaces SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial
statements based on their fair values beginning with the first interim period after June 15, 2005, with early
adoption encouraged. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS No. 123 no longer will
be an alternative to financial statement recognition. The company is required to adopt SFAS No. 123R in the
third quarter of 2005. Under SFAS No. 123R, the company must determine the appropriate fair value model
to be used for valuing share-based payments, the amortization method for compensation cost and the
transition method to be used at date of adoption. The permitted transition methods include either
retrospective or prospective adoption. Under the retrospective option, prior periods may be restated either
as of the beginning of the year of adoption or for all periods presented. The prospective method requires
that compensation expense be recorded for all unvested stock options at the beginning of the first quarter
of adoption of SFAS No. 123R, while the retrospective methods would record compensation expense for all
unvested stock options beginning with the first period presented. The company is currently evaluating the
requirements of SFAS No. 123R and expects that adoption of SFAS No. 123R will have a material impact on
the company’s consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations. The company has not
yet determined the method of adoption or the effect of adopting SFAS No. 123R, and it has not determined
whether the adoption will result in amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under SFAS
No. 123. See stock-based compensation plans in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment
of APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions” (SFAS No. 153). SFAS No. 153
eliminates the exception from fair value measurement for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive
assets in paragraph 21 (b) of APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions,” and
replaces it with an exception for exchanges that do not have commercial substance. SFAS No. 153 specifies
that a nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are expected
to change significantly as a result of the exchange. SFAS No. 153 is effective for periods beginning after June
15, 2005. The company does not expect that adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have a material effect on its
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs an amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4” (SFAS No. 151). SFAS No. 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory
Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, handling costs and wasted
material (spoilage). Among other provisions, the new rule requires that such items be recognized as
current-period charges, regardless of whether they meet the criterion of “so abnormal” as stated in ARB
No. 43. SFAS No. 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The company does not expect
that adoption of SFAS No. 151 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, consolidated
results of operations, or liquidity.

On May 19, 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 106-2 (FSP No. 106-2), “Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of
2003” (the Act). The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare, as well as a federal subsidy to
sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to
Medicare Part D. FSP No. 106-2 is effective for the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2004, and
provides that an employer shall measure the accumulated plan benefit obligation (APBO) and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost, taking into account any subsidy received under the Act. As of December 31, 2004,
the company’s measurements of both the APBO and the net postretirement benefit cost do not reflect any
amounts associated with the subsidy. While final regulations have not been released, guidance provided to
date implies that the company’s plan will probably not be considered actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part
D. Accordingly, the company does not expect that adoption of FSP No. 106-2 will have a material effect on its
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.
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In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities, an interpretation of ARB 51.” The primary objectives of this interpretation are to provide guidance on
the identification of entities for which control is achieved through means other than through voting rights
(variable interest entities) and how to determine when and which business enterprise (the primary
beneficiary) should consolidate the variable interest entity. This new model for consolidation applies to an
entity in which either (a) the equity investors (if any) do not have a controlling financial interest, or (b) the
equity investment at risk is insufficient to finance that entity’s activities without receiving additional
subordinated financial support from other parties. In addition, FIN 46 requires that the primary beneficiary,
as well as all other enterprises with a significant variable interest in a variable interest entity, make additional
disclosures. Certain disclosure requirements of FIN 46 were effective for financial statements issued after
January 31, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46-R) to address certain FIN 46 implementation issues.

The provisions of FIN 46 were applicable for variable interests in entities obtained after January 31,
2003. The adoption of the provisions applicable to special purpose entities (SPEs) and all other variable
interests obtained after January 31, 2003, did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated
financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective March 31, 2004, the company adopted the provisions of FIN 46-R applicable to non-SPEs
created prior to February 1, 2003. Adoption of FIN 46-R had no impact on the company’s consolidated
financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44
and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No.
4, which required that all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt be reported as an extraordinary
item. Previously recorded losses on the early extinguishment of debts that were classified as an
extraordinary item in prior periods have been reclassified to other income (expense), net. The adoption of
SFAS No. 145 had no effect on the company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of
operations, or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities.” SFAS No. 146 requires companies to recognize costs associated with exit or
disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal
plan. SFAS No. 146 replaces previous accounting guidance provided by Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)
Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit
an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” and is effective for the company for exit
or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. Adoption of this statement had no material impact
on the company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an
Interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34” (FIN
45). The interpretation requires that upon issuance of a guarantee, the entity must recognize a liability for
the fair value of the obligation it assumes under that guarantee. In addition, FIN 45 requires disclosures
about the guarantees that an entity has issued, including a roll-forward of the entity’s product warranty
liabilities. This interpretation is intended to improve the comparability of financial reporting by requiring
identical accounting for guarantees issued with separately identified consideration and guarantees issued
without separately identified consideration. Adoption of this interpretation had no material impact on the
company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective July 1, 2003, the company adopted the FASB’s consensus on EITF Issue No. 00-21, “Accounting
for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” This issue addresses how to account for
arrangements that may involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services, and/or rights to
use assets. The final consensus of this issue is applicable to agreements entered into in fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2003. Adoption of this issue had no material impact on the company’s consolidated
financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.
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In May 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-5, “Applicability of AICPA Statement of
Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, to Non-Software Deliverables in an Arrangement Containing
More-Than-Incidental Software.” The FASB ratified this consensus in August 2003. EITF Issue No. 03-5
affirms that AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 applies to non-software deliverables, such as hardware and
services, in an arrangement if the software is essential to the functionality of the non-software deliverables.
The adoption of EITF Issue No. 03-5 did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated
financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Financial condition

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2004 were $660.5 million compared with $635.9 million at
December 31, 2003.

During 2004, cash provided by operations was $469.8 million compared with $570.8 million in 2003,
principally reflecting lower earnings. Cash expenditures related to prior-year restructuring actions and the
2004 cost reduction actions (which are included in operating activities) in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $18.6
million, $58.4 million and $104.4 million, respectively, principally for work force reductions and facility
costs. Cash expenditures for prior-year restructuring actions and the 2004 cost reduction actions are
expected to be approximately $72 million in 2005, principally for work force reductions.

Cash used for investing activities in 2004 was $479.6 million compared with $510.4 million in 2003.
Proceeds from investments and purchases of investments represent derivative financial instruments used to
manage the company’s currency exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The decrease in cash used for investing activities was due to net purchases of investments of $27.8 million
for 2004 compared with $68.1 million in the prior-year period. In addition in 2004, the investment in
marketable software was $119.6 million compared with $144.1 million in 2003, capital additions of
properties were $137.0 million in 2004 compared with $116.7 million in 2003 and capital additions of
outsourcing assets were $177.5 million in 2004 compared with $176.2 million in 2003. The increase in capital
additions of properties was principally related to the relocation of the company’s federal headquarters into
a new facility. Cash expenditures for the purchases of businesses were $19.4 million in 2004 compared with
$5.3 million in 2003.

Cash provided by financing activities during 2004 was $15.3 million compared with $255.5 million in
2003. In 2003, the company issued long-term debt of $293.3 million, as described below. In addition, during
2003, net short-term borrowings of $64.5 million were reduced as compared with a reduction of $20.0
million in 2004.

In March 2003, the company issued $300 million of 6 7/8% senior notes due 2010. At December 31,
2004, total debt was $1.1 billion, a decrease of $17.1 million from December 31, 2003.

On January 18, 2005, the company paid $150 million from cash on hand to retire at maturity all its 
7 1/4% senior notes. See Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the components of
the company’s long-term debt.

The company has a $500 million credit agreement that expires in May 2006 with no amounts
outstanding as of December 31, 2004. Borrowings under the agreement bear interest based on the then-
current LIBOR or prime rates and the company’s credit rating. The credit agreement contains financial and
other covenants, including maintenance of certain financial ratios, a minimum level of net worth and
limitations on certain types of transactions, which could reduce the amount the company is able to borrow.
Events of default under the credit agreement include failure to perform covenants, material adverse change,
change of control and default under other debt aggregating at least $25 million. If an event of default were
to occur under the credit agreement, the lenders would be entitled to declare all amounts borrowed under
it immediately due and payable. The occurrence of an event of default under the credit agreement could
also cause the acceleration of obligations under certain other agreements and the termination of the
company’s U.S. trade accounts receivable facility, described below.
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In light of the company’s 2004 fourth quarter results (see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements), the company requested and obtained a waiver of one of its financial covenants at
December 31, 2004, and an amendment of certain financial covenants going forward, from its various
lenders. The entire $500 million of the credit agreement is available for borrowing as of December 31, 2004.

In addition, the company and certain international subsidiaries have access to uncommitted lines of
credit from various banks. Other sources of short-term funding are operational cash flows, including
customer prepayments, and the company’s U.S. trade accounts receivable facility. Using this facility, the
company sells, on an ongoing basis, up to $225 million of its eligible U.S. trade accounts receivable through a
wholly owned subsidiary, Unisys Funding Corporation I. The facility is renewable annually at the purchasers’
option and expires in December 2006. At each of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, the company had
sold $225 million of eligible receivables. See Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

After considering the amendment discussed above, the company believes that it will continue to meet
the covenants and conditions under its various lending and funding arrangements. It therefore believes that
it has adequate sources and availability of short-term funding to meet its expected cash requirements.

As described more fully in Notes 5, 10 and 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, at
December 31, 2004 the company had certain cash obligations, which are due as follows:

As more fully described in Note 13 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the company
could have an additional obligation under an operating lease for one of its facilities and as described in
Note 17 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the company expects to make cash
contributions of approximately $70 million to its worldwide defined benefit pension plans in 2005.

At December 31, 2004, the company had outstanding standby letters of credit and surety bonds of
approximately $266 million related to performance and payment guarantees. On the basis of experience
with these arrangements, the company believes that any obligations that may arise will not be material.

The company may, from time to time, redeem, tender for or repurchase its securities in the open market
or in privately negotiated transactions depending upon availability, market conditions and other factors.

The company has on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission an effective registration
statement covering $1.2 billion of debt or equity securities, which enables the company to be prepared for
future market opportunities.

Stockholders’ equity increased $111.3 million during 2004, principally reflecting currency translation of
$43.5 million, net income of $38.6 million, $60.9 million for issuance of stock under stock option and other
plans and $4.4 million of tax benefits related to employee stock plans, offset in part by an increase in the
minimum pension liability adjustment of $39.2 million.

(millions) Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years

Notes payable $ 1.0 $ 1.0
Long-term debt 1,050.0 150.0 $ 400.0 $200.0 $ 300.0
Capital lease obligations 3.0 1.7 1.3 – –
Operating leases 718.8 142.6 217.6 131.6 227.0
Minimum purchase obligations 23.0 10.0 8.0 5.0 –
Work force reductions 75.4 62.3 13.1 – –

Total $1,871.2 $ 367.6 $ 640.0 $ 336.6 $ 527.0
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Market risk

The company has exposure to interest rate risk from its short-term and long-term debt. In general, the
company’s long-term debt is fixed rate, and the short-term debt is variable rate. See Note 10 of the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements for components of the company’s long-term debt. The company
believes that the market risk assuming a hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would not be material
to the fair value of these financial instruments, or the related cash flows, or future results of operations.

The company is also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risks. The company uses derivative
financial instruments to reduce its exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange
rates. The derivative instruments used are foreign exchange forward contracts and foreign exchange
options. See Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the
company’s derivative financial instruments.

The company has performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a hypothetical 10% adverse movement 
in foreign currency exchange rates applied to these derivative financial instruments described above. As 
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the analysis indicated that such market movements would have reduced 
the estimated fair value of these derivative financial instruments by approximately $57 million and 
$58 million, respectively.

Based on changes in the timing and amount of interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate
movements and the company’s actual exposures and hedges, actual gains and losses in the future may 
differ from the above analysis.

Critical accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates and
assumptions. Certain accounting policies, methods and estimates are particularly important because of
their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them
may differ from management’s current judgments. Although there are a number of accounting policies,
methods and estimates affecting the company’s financial statements as described in Note 1 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, the following critical accounting policies reflect the significant
estimates, judgments and assumptions.

Outsourcing

Typically, the terms of the company’s outsourcing contracts are between three and 10 years. In a number of
these arrangements, the company hires certain of the customers’ employees and often becomes responsible
for the related employee obligations, such as pension and severance commitments. In addition, system
development activity on outsourcing contracts often requires significant upfront investments by the
company. The company funds these investments, and any employee-related obligations, from customer
prepayments and operating cash flow. Also, in the early phases of these contracts, gross margins may be
lower than in later years when the work force and facilities have been rationalized for efficient operations,
and an integrated systems solution has been implemented.

Revenue under these contracts is recognized when the company performs the services or processes
transactions in accordance with contractual performance standards. Customer prepayments (even if
nonrefundable) are deferred (classified as a liability) and recognized systematically over future periods as
services are delivered or performed.

Costs on outsourcing contracts are charged to expense as incurred. However, direct costs incurred
related to the inception of an outsourcing contract are deferred and charged to expense over the contract
term. These costs consist principally of initial customer setup and employment obligations related to
employees assumed. In addition, the costs of equipment and software, some of which are internally
developed, are capitalized and depreciated over the shorter of their life or the term of the contract.
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Recoverability of outsourcing assets is subject to various business risks, including the timely
completion and ultimate cost of the outsourcing solution, realization of expected profitability of existing
outsourcing contracts and obtaining additional outsourcing customers. The company quarterly compares
the fair value of the outsourcing assets with the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by
the outsourcing assets to determine if there is an impairment. If impaired, the outsourcing assets are
reduced to an estimated fair value on a discounted cash flow approach. The company prepares its cash flow
estimates based on assumptions that it believes to be reasonable but are also inherently uncertain. Actual
future cash flows could differ from these estimates. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the net capitalized
amount related to outsourcing contracts was $431.9 million and $477.5 million, respectively.

Systems integration

For long-term fixed price systems integration contracts, the company recognizes revenue and profit as the
contracts progress using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, which relies on estimates of
total expected contract revenues and costs. The company follows this method because reasonably
dependable estimates of the revenue and costs applicable to various elements of a contract can be made.
Because the financial reporting of these contracts depends on estimates, which are assessed continually
during the term of the contracts, recognized revenues and profit are subject to revisions as the contract
progresses to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts that
give rise to the revision become known. Accordingly, favorable changes in estimates result in additional
revenue and profit recognition, and unfavorable changes in estimates result in a reduction of recognized
revenue and profit. When estimates indicate that a loss will be incurred on a contract upon completion, a
provision for the expected loss is recorded in the period in which the loss becomes evident. As work
progresses under a loss contract, revenue continues to be recognized, and a portion of the contract costs
incurred in each period is charged to the contract loss reserve. For other systems integration projects, the
company recognizes revenue when the services have been performed.

Income taxes

The company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
which requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of
temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 109 also
requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some
portion or the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the company had deferred tax assets in excess of deferred tax liabilities
of $2,157 million and $2,034 million, respectively. For the reasons cited below, at December 31, 2004 and
2003, management determined that it is more likely than not that $1,625 million and $1,583 million,
respectively, of such assets will be realized, resulting in a valuation allowance of $532 million and $451
million, respectively.

The company evaluates quarterly the realizability of its deferred tax assets by assessing its valuation
allowance and by adjusting the amount of such allowance, if necessary. The factors used to assess the
likelihood of realization are the company’s forecast of future taxable income and available tax planning
strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets. The company has used tax-
planning strategies to realize or renew net deferred tax assets to avoid the potential loss of future tax benefits.

In addition to the repatriation provisions discussed above, the Jobs Act extends the excess foreign tax
credit carryforward period from five to 10 years and limits the carryback period to one year. At December
31, 2004, the company’s deferred tax asset included approximately $183 million of foreign tax credit
carryforwards. The Jobs Act should provide the company with additional opportunities to fully utilize this
portion of the deferred tax asset.
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Approximately $4.9 billion of future taxable income (predominately U.S.) ultimately is needed to
realize the net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income might
affect the ultimate realization of the net deferred tax assets. Factors that may affect the company’s ability to
achieve sufficient forecasted taxable income include, but are not limited to, the following: increased
competition, a continuing decline in sales or margins, loss of market share, delays in product availability or
technological obsolescence. See “Factors that may affect future results.”

The company’s annual provision for income taxes and the determination of the resulting deferred tax
assets and liabilities involve a significant amount of management judgment and are based on the best
information available at the time. The company operates within federal, state and international taxing
jurisdictions and is subject to audit in these jurisdictions. These audits can involve complex issues, which
may require an extended period of time to resolve. As a result, the actual income tax liabilities to the
jurisdictions with respect to any fiscal year are ultimately determined long after the financial statements
have been published. The company maintains reserves for estimated tax exposures. Income tax exposures
include potential challenges of research and development credits and intercompany pricing. Exposures are
settled primarily through the settlement of audits within these tax jurisdictions, but can also be affected by
changes in applicable tax law or other factors, which could cause management of the company to believe a
revision of past estimates is appropriate. Management believes that an appropriate liability has been
established for estimated exposures; however, actual results may differ materially from these estimates. The
liabilities are reviewed quarterly for their adequacy and appropriateness. As of December 31, 2004, the
company was subject to U.S. Federal income tax audits for fiscal years 1997 through 1999. The liabilities
associated with these years will ultimately be resolved when events such as the completion of audits by the
taxing jurisdictions occur. To the extent the audits or other events result in a material adjustment to the
accrued estimates, the effect would be recognized in the provision for income taxes line in the company’s
Consolidated Statement of Income in the period of the event.

Pensions

The company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’
Accounting for Pensions,” which allows that amounts recognized in financial statements be determined on
an actuarial basis. The measurement of the company’s pension obligations, costs and liabilities is dependent
on a variety of assumptions selected by the company and used by the company’s actuaries. These
assumptions include estimates of the present value of projected future pension payments to plan
participants, taking into consideration the likelihood of potential future events such as salary increases and
demographic experience. The assumptions used in developing the required estimates include the following
key factors: discount rates, salary growth, retirement rates, inflation, expected return on plan assets and
mortality rates.

As permitted by SFAS No. 87, the company uses a calculated value of plan assets (which is further
described below). SFAS No. 87 allows that the effects of the performance of the pension plan’s assets and
changes in pension liability discount rates on the company’s computation of pension income (expense) be
amortized over future periods. A substantial portion of the company’s pension plan assets and liabilities
relates to its defined benefit plan in the United States.

A significant element in determining the company’s pension income (expense) in accordance with
SFAS No. 87 is the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The company sets the expected long-
term rate of return based on the expected long-term return of the various asset categories in which it
invests. The company considers the current expectations for future returns and the actual historical returns
of each asset class. Also, because the company’s investment policy is to actively manage certain asset classes
where the potential exists to outperform the broader market, the expected returns for those asset classes are
adjusted to reflect the expected additional returns. For 2005 and 2004, the company has assumed that the
expected long-term rate of return on U.S. plan assets will be 8.75%. A change of 25 basis points in the
expected long-term rate of return for the company’s U.S. pension plan causes a change of approximately
$10 million in pension expense. The assumed long-term rate of return on assets is applied to a calculated
value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan assets in a systematic manner over 
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four years. This produces the expected return on plan assets that is included in pension income (expense).
The difference between this expected return and the actual return on plan assets is deferred. The net
deferral of past asset gains (losses) affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately, future pension
income (expense). At December 31, 2004, for the company’s U.S. defined benefit pension plan, the
calculated value of plan assets was $4.28 billion compared with the fair value of plan assets of $4.36 billion.

At the end of each year, the company determines the discount rate to be used to calculate the present
value of plan liabilities. The discount rate is an estimate of the current interest rate at which the pension
liabilities could be effectively settled at the end of the year. In estimating this rate, the company looks to
rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income investments that (a) receive one of the two highest ratings
given by a recognized ratings agency and (b) are currently available and expected to be available during the
period to maturity of the pension benefits. At December 31, 2004, the company determined this rate to be
5.88% for its U.S. defined benefit pension plan, a decrease of 37 basis points from the rate used at December
31, 2003. A change of 25 basis points in the U.S. discount rate causes a change in pension expense of
approximately $12 million and a change of approximately $115 million in the projected benefit obligation.
The net effect of changes in the discount rate, as well as the net effect of other changes in actuarial
assumptions and experience, has been deferred, as permitted by SFAS No. 87.

Management chose the above assumptions as to the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
and the discount rate with consultation from and concurrence of the company’s third-party actuaries.

SFAS No. 87 defines gains and losses as changes in the amount of either the projected benefit
obligation or plan assets resulting from experience different from that assumed and from changes in
assumptions. Because gains and losses may reflect refinements in estimates as well as real changes in
economic values and because some gains in one period may be offset by losses in another and vice versa,
SFAS No. 87 does not require recognition of gains and losses as components of net pension cost of the
period in which they arise.

As a minimum, amortization of an unrecognized net gain or loss must be included as a component of
net pension cost for a year if, as of the beginning of the year, that unrecognized net gain or loss exceeds 10
percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the calculated value of plan assets. If
amortization is required, the minimum amortization is that excess above the 10 percent divided by the
average remaining service period of active employees expected to receive benefits under the plan. For the
company’s U.S. defined benefit pension plan, that period is approximately nine years. At December 31,
2004, based on the calculated value of plan assets, the estimated unrecognized loss was $1.66 billion.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the company recognized consolidated pretax pension expense
of $93.6 million, compared with $22.6 million of consolidated pretax pension income for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Approximately $107 million of the increase in expense was in the U.S. and $9 million
was in international subsidiaries, principally the United Kingdom. The change was principally due to the
following: (a) a decline in the discount rate used for the U.S. pension plan to 6.25% at December 31, 2003
from 6.75% at December 31, 2002, (b) an increase in amortization of net unrecognized losses, (c) lower
expected returns on plan assets due to four-year smoothing of the difference between the calculated value
of plan assets and the fair value of plan assets, and (d) for international plans, declines in discount rates
and currency translation.

For 2005, the company expects to recognize pension expense of approximately $186 million,
comprising $105 million of expense in the U.S. and $81 million of expense in international plans. This
would represent an increase in pension expense of approximately $92.4 million from 2004. The reasons for
the increase of approximately $67 million in the U.S. are as follows: (a) approximately $17 million due to
the change in the discount rate from 6.25% to 5.88% and (b) approximately $50 million increase in
amortization of net unrecognized losses. For international plans, the expected increase in pension expense
is approximately $25 million principally due to lower discount rates and currency translation.

During 2004, the company made cash contributions to its worldwide defined benefit pension plans of
approximately $63 million and expects to make cash contributions of approximately $70 million during
2005. In accordance with regulations governing contributions to U.S. defined benefit pension plans, the
company is not required to fund its U.S. qualified defined benefit plan in 2005.
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At December 31 of each year, accounting rules require a company to recognize a liability on its balance
sheet for each defined benefit pension plan if the fair value of the assets of that pension plan is less than the
present value of the pension obligation (the accumulated benefit obligation, or ABO). This liability is called
a “minimum pension liability.” Concurrently, any existing prepaid pension asset for the pension plan must
be removed. These adjustments are recorded as a charge in “accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss)” in stockholders’ equity. If at any future year-end, the fair value of the pension plan assets exceeds the
ABO, the charge to stockholders’ equity would be reversed for such plan. Alternatively, if the fair market
values of pension plan assets experience further declines or the discount rate is reduced, additional charges
to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) may be required at a future year-end.

At December 31, 2004, the difference between the ABO and the fair value of pension plan assets
increased from the amount at December 31, 2003. As a result at December 31, 2004, the company adjusted
its minimum pension liability adjustment as follows: increased its pension plan liabilities by approximately
$95 million, increased its investments at equity by approximately $27 million relating to the company’s
share of the change in NUL’s minimum pension liability, increased prepaid pension asset by $13  million,
and offset these changes by an increase in other comprehensive loss of approximately $55 million, or $39
million net of tax.

This accounting treatment has no effect on the company’s net income, liquidity or cash flows.
Financial ratios and net worth covenants in the company’s credit agreements and debt securities are
unaffected by charges or credits to stockholders’ equity caused by adjusting a minimum pension liability.

Factors that may affect future results

From time to time, the company provides information containing “forward-looking” statements, as defined
in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements provide current
expectations of future events and include any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or
current fact. Words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “projects” and similar
expressions may identify such forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements rely on
assumptions and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause the company’s actual
results to differ materially from expectations. Statements in this report concerning anticipated savings from
cost reduction actions are subject to the risk that the company may not implement the headcount
reductions as quickly or as fully as currently planned. Other factors that could affect future results include,
but are not limited to, those discussed below. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on
which that statement is made. The company assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking
statement to reflect events or circumstances that occur after the date on which the statement is made.

The company’s business is affected by changes in general economic and business conditions. The
company continues to face a highly competitive business environment and economic weakness in certain
geographic regions. In this environment, many organizations continue to delay planned purchases of
information technology products and services. If the level of demand for the company’s products and
services declines in the future, the company’s business could be adversely affected. The company’s business
could also be affected by acts of war, terrorism or natural disasters. Current world tensions could escalate,
and this could have unpredictable consequences on the world economy and on the company’s business.

The information services and technology markets in which the company operates include a large
number of companies vying for customers and market share both domestically and internationally. The
company’s competitors include consulting and other professional services firms, systems integrators,
outsourcing providers, infrastructure services providers, computer hardware manufacturers and software
providers. Some of the company’s competitors may develop competing products and services that offer
better price-performance or that reach the market in advance of the company’s offerings. Some competitors
also have or may develop greater financial and other resources than the company, with enhanced ability to
compete for market share, in some instances through significant economic incentives to secure contracts.
Some also may be better able to compete for skilled professionals. Any of these factors could have an
adverse effect on the company’s business. Future results will depend on the company’s ability to mitigate
the effects of aggressive competition on revenues, pricing and margins and on the company’s ability to
attract and retain talented people.
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The company operates in a highly volatile industry characterized by rapid technological change,
evolving technology standards, short product life cycles and continually changing customer demand
patterns. Future success will depend in part on the company’s ability to anticipate and respond to these
market trends and to design, develop, introduce, deliver or obtain new and innovative products and
services on a timely and cost-effective basis. The company may not be successful in anticipating or
responding to changes in technology, industry standards or customer preferences, and the market may not
demand or accept its services and product offerings. In addition, products and services developed by
competitors may make the company’s offerings less competitive.

The company’s future results will depend in part on its ability to grow outsourcing and infrastructure
services. The company’s outsourcing contracts are multiyear engagements under which the company takes
over management of a client’s technology operations, business processes or networks. The company will need
to maintain a strong financial position to grow its outsourcing business. In a number of these arrangements,
the company hires certain of its clients’ employees and may become responsible for the related employee
obligations, such as pension and severance commitments. In addition, system development activity on
outsourcing contracts may require the company to make significant upfront investments.

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is subject to various business risks, including the timely
completion and ultimate cost of the outsourcing solution, realization of expected profitability of existing
outsourcing contracts and obtaining additional outsourcing customers. These risks could result in an
impairment of a portion of the associated assets, which are tested for recoverability quarterly.

As long-term relationships, outsourcing contracts provide a base of recurring revenue. However,
outsourcing contracts are highly complex and can involve the design, development, implementation and
operation of new solutions and the transitioning of clients from their existing business processes to the new
environment. In the early phases of these contracts, gross margins may be lower than in later years when an
integrated solution has been implemented, the duplicate costs of transitioning from the old to the new
system have been eliminated and the work force and facilities have been rationalized for efficient
operations. Future results will depend on the company’s ability to effectively and timely complete these
implementations, transitions and rationalizations.

Future results will also depend in part on the company’s ability to drive profitable growth in consulting
and systems integration. The company’s ability to grow profitably in this business will depend in part on an
improvement in economic conditions and a pick-up in demand for systems integration projects. It will also
depend on the success of the actions the company has taken to enhance the skills base and management
team in this business and to refocus the business on integrating best-of-breed, standards-based solutions to
solve client needs. In addition, profit margins in this business are largely a function of the rates the
company is able to charge for services and the chargeability of its professionals. If the company is unable to
maintain the rates it charges or appropriate chargeability for its professionals, profit margins will suffer.
The rates the company is able to charge for services are affected by a number of factors, including clients’
perception of the company’s ability to add value through its services; introduction of new services or
products by the company or its competitors; pricing policies of competitors; and general economic
conditions. Chargeability is also affected by a number of factors, including the company’s ability to
transition employees from completed projects to new engagements, and its ability to forecast demand for
services and thereby maintain an appropriate head count.

Future results will also depend, in part, on market acceptance of the company’s high-end enterprise
servers. In its technology business, the company is focusing its resources on creating and enhancing a
common high-performance platform for both its proprietary operating environments and open standards-
based operating environments such as Microsoft Windows and Linux. In addition, the company is applying
its resources to develop value-added software capabilities and optimized solutions for these server
platforms which provide competitive differentiation. The high-end enterprise server platforms are based on
its Cellular MultiProcessing (CMP) architecture. The company’s CMP servers are designed to provide
mainframe-class capabilities with compelling price performance by making use of standards-based
technologies such as Intel chips and supporting industry standard software. The company has transitioned
both its legacy ClearPath servers and its Intel-based ES7000s to the CMP platform. Future results will
depend, in part, on customer acceptance of the new CMP-based ClearPath Plus systems and the company’s 
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ability to maintain its installed base for ClearPath and to develop next-generation ClearPath products that
are purchased by the installed base. In addition, future results will depend, in part, on the company’s ability
to generate new customers and increase sales of the Intel-based ES7000 line. The company believes there is
significant growth potential in the developing market for high-end, Intel-based servers running Microsoft
and Linux operating system software. However, competition in these new markets is likely to intensify in
coming years, and the company’s ability to succeed will depend on its ability to compete effectively against
enterprise server competitors with more substantial resources and its ability to achieve market acceptance
of the ES7000 technology by clients, systems integrators and independent software vendors.

A number of the company’s long-term contracts for infrastructure services, outsourcing, help desk and
similar services do not provide for minimum transaction volumes. As a result, revenue levels are not
guaranteed. In addition, some of these contracts may permit customer termination or may impose other
penalties if the company does not meet the performance levels specified in the contracts.

Some of the company’s systems integration contracts are fixed-price contracts under which the
company assumes the risk for delivery of the contracted services and products at an agreed-upon fixed
price. At times the company has experienced problems in performing some of these fixed-price contracts
on a profitable basis and has provided periodically for adjustments to the estimated cost to complete them.
Future results will depend on the company’s ability to perform these services contracts profitably.

The company frequently enters into contracts with governmental entities. Risks and uncertainties
associated with these government contracts include the availability of appropriated funds and contractual
provisions that allow governmental entities to terminate agreements at their discretion before the end of
their terms.

The success of the company’s business is dependent on strong, long-term client relationships and on
its reputation for responsiveness and quality. As a result, if a client is not satisfied with the company’s
services or products, its reputation could be damaged and its business adversely affected. In addition, if the
company fails to meet its contractual obligations, it could be subject to legal liability, which could adversely
affect its business, operating results and financial condition.

The company has commercial relationships with suppliers, channel partners and other parties that
have complementary products, services or skills. Future results will depend, in part, on the performance
and capabilities of these third parties, on the ability of external suppliers to deliver components at
reasonable prices and in a timely manner, and on the financial condition of, and the company’s relationship
with, distributors and other indirect channel partners.

More than half of the company’s total revenue derives from international operations. The risks of
doing business internationally include foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, changes in political or
economic conditions, trade protection measures, import or export licensing requirements, multiple and
possibly overlapping and conflicting tax laws, new tax legislation, and weaker intellectual property
protections in some jurisdictions.

The company cannot be sure that its services and products do not infringe on the intellectual property
rights of third parties, and it may have infringement claims asserted against it or against its clients. These claims
could cost the company money, prevent it from offering some services or products, or damage its reputation.
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Unisys Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Income

Year ended December 31 (millions, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Revenue

Services $4,724.7 $4,691.9 $4,285.1

Technology 1,096.0 1,219.3 1,322.3

5,820.7 5,911.2 5,607.4

Costs and expenses

Cost of revenue:

Services 3,940.8 3,654.7 3,244.9

Technology 517.5 541.5 674.0

4,458.3 4,196.2 3,918.9

Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,102.9 1,007.2 992.0

Research and development expenses 294.3 280.1 273.3

5,855.5 5,483.5 5,184.2

Operating income (loss) (34.8) 427.7 423.2

Interest expense 69.0 69.6 66.5

Other income (expense), net 27.8 22.4 (23.9)

Income (loss) before income taxes (76.0) 380.5 332.8

Provision (benefit) for income taxes (114.6) 121.8 109.8

Net income $ 38.6 $ 258.7 $ 223.0

Earnings per share 

Basic $ .12 $ .79 $ .69

Diluted $ .11 $ .78 $ .69

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements



Unisys Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 (millions) 2004 2003

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 660.5 $ 635.9
Accounts and notes receivable, net 1,136.8 1,027.8
Inventories:

Parts and finished equipment 93.7 121.7
Work in process and materials 122.4 116.9

Deferred income taxes 291.8 270.0
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 112.4 85.7

Total 2,417.6 2,258.0

Properties 1,305.5 1,352.7
Less – Accumulated depreciation and amortization 881.4 928.5

Properties, net 424.1 424.2

Outsourcing assets, net 431.9 477.5
Marketable software, net 336.8 332.2
Investments at equity 197.1 153.3
Prepaid pension cost 52.5 55.5
Deferred income taxes 1,394.6 1,384.6
Goodwill 189.9 177.5
Other long-term assets 176.4 206.8

Total $ 5,620.9 $ 5,469.6

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Notes payable $ 1.0 $ 17.7
Current maturities of long-term debt 151.7 2.2
Accounts payable 487.4 513.8
Other accrued liabilities 1,316.1 1,305.7
Income taxes payable 66.6 214.1

Total 2,022.8 2,053.5

Long-term debt 898.4 1,048.3
Accrued pension liability 537.9 433.6
Other long-term liabilities 655.3 539.0
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, par value $.01 per share (720.0 million shares authorized;

339.4 million shares and 333.8 million shares, issued) 3.4 3.3
Accumulated deficit (376.2) (414.8)
Other capital 3,883.8 3,818.6
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,004.5) (2,011.9)

Stockholders’ equity 1,506.5 1,395.2

Total $ 5,620.9 $ 5,469.6

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2004 2003 2002

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income  $ 38.6 $ 258.7 $ 223.0

Add (deduct) items to reconcile net income  
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Equity (income) loss (16.1) (18.2) 12.4
Depreciation and amortization of properties 136.5 144.4 125.2

Depreciation and amortization of outsourcing assets 123.3 82.3 64.9
Amortization of marketable software 134.2 123.6 121.0

Impairment charge related to outsourcing assets 125.6 – –
(Increase) decrease in deferred income taxes, net (41.2) 57.2 39.4
(Increase) decrease in receivables, net (61.8) (67.7) 156.5
Decrease in inventories 23.0 54.1 53.0
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities (1.6) 25.6 (137.4)
Decrease in income taxes payable (120.5) (4.8) (15.5)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities (111.3) (70.9) (61.2)
Increase in other assets (16.2) (6.0) (209.1)
Other (34.7) (7.5) 17.9

Net cash provided by operating activities 469.8 570.8 390.1

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from investments 6,026.5 5,054.0 3,447.1
Purchases of investments (6,054.3) (5,122.1) (3,485.4)
Investment in marketable software (119.6) (144.1) (139.9)
Capital additions of properties (137.0) (116.7) (100.9)
Capital additions of outsourcing assets (177.5) (176.2) (160.9)
Purchases of businesses (19.4) (5.3) (4.8)
Proceeds from sales of businesses 1.7 – –

Net cash used for investing activities (479.6) (510.4) (444.8)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net reduction in short-term borrowings (20.0) (64.5) (1.6)
Proceeds from employee stock plans 38.8 31.5 29.0
Payments of long-term debt (3.5) (4.8) (2.1)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 29– 53293.36.5 5–5

Net cash provided by financing activities 15.3 255.5 25.3

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 19.1 18.2 5.3

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 24.6 334.1 (24.1)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 635.9 301.8 325.9

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 660.5 $ 635.9 $ 301.8

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



Unisys Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Accumulated

Other Comprehensive
Common Stock Accumulated       Treasury Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Income

(millions) Shares Par Value Deficit Shares Cost Capital Loss (Loss)

Balance at December 31, 2001 322.5 $3.2 $(896.5) (1.9) $(42.3) $3,755.1 $ (706.8)

Issuance of stock under stock
option and other plans 5.6 .1 (.1) 46.9

Net income 223.0 $ 223.0

Other comprehensive loss:  

Translation adjustments (33.8)

Cash flow hedges (5.9)

Minimum pension liability (1,490.4)

(1,530.1) (1,530.1)

Comprehensive loss $(1,307.1)
Tax benefit related to stock plans 3.5

Balance at December 31, 2002 328.1 3.3 (673.5) (1.9) (42.4) 3,805.5 (2,236.9)

Issuance of stock under stock
option and other plans 5.7 .1 (.2) 50.8

Net income 258.7 $ 258.7

Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments  65.3 (73.3)

Cash flow hedges (5.1)

Minimum pension liability 164.8

225.0 225.0

Comprehensive income $ 483.7

Tax benefit related to stock plans 4.9

Balance at December 31, 2003 333.8 3.3 (414.8) (1.9) (42.6) 3,861.2 (2,011.9)

Issuance of stock under stock
option and other plans 5.6 .1 (.1) (.6) 61.4

Net income (38.6) $ 38.6

Other comprehensive income:  

Translation adjustments (43.5)

Cash flow hedges 3.1

Minimum pension liability (39.2)

(7.4) 7.4

Comprehensive income $ 46.0

Tax benefit related to stock plans 4.4

Balance at December 31, 2004 339.4 $3.4 $(376.2) (2.0) $(43.2) $3,927.0 $(2,004.5)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation

Revenue from software licenses is recognized at the incep-
tion of the initial license term and upon execution of an extension
to the license term. Revenue for post-contract software support
arrangements, which are marketed separately, is recorded on a
straight-line basis over the support period for multi-year contracts
and at inception for contracts of one year or less. The company
also enters into multiple-element arrangements, which may include
any combination of hardware, software or services. In these
transactions, the company allocates the total revenue to be
earned under the arrangement among the various elements
based on their relative fair value. For software, and elements for
which software is essential to the functionality, the allocation is
based on vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value. The
company recognizes revenue on multiple-element arrangements
only if: (a) any undelivered products or services are not essential
to the functionality of the delivered products or services, (b) the
company has an enforceable claim to receive the amount due in
the event it does not deliver the undelivered products or ser-
vices, (c) there is evidence of the fair value for each undelivered
product or service, and (d) the revenue recognition criteria other-
wise have been met for the delivered elements. For software
arrangements with extended payment terms beyond 12 months,
the company recognizes revenue at the inception of the arrange-
ment, provided that the arrangement meets the software rev-
enue recognition criteria discussed above, considering, among
other things, the history of successfully collecting under the ori-
ginal payment terms without providing refunds or concessions,
otherwise revenue is recognized as payments are due.

Revenue from equipment and software maintenance is 
recognized on a straight-line basis as earned over the lives of 
the respective contracts.

Revenue for operating leases is recognized on a monthly
basis over the term of the lease and for sales-type leases at the
inception of the lease term.

Revenue and profit under systems integration contracts are
recognized either on the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting using the cost-to-cost method, or when services
have been performed, depending on the nature of the project.
For contracts accounted for on the percentage-of-completion
basis, revenue and profit recognized in any given accounting
period are based on estimates of total projected contract costs;
the estimates are continually re-evaluated and revised, when
necessary, throughout the life of a contract. Any adjustments to
revenue and profit due to changes in estimates are accounted
for in the period of the change in estimate. When estimates indi-
cate that a loss will be incurred on a contract upon completion, a
provision for the expected loss is recorded in the period in which
the loss becomes evident.

Revenue from time and materials service contracts and out-
sourcing contracts is recognized as the services are provided.

1. Summary of significant 
accounting policies

Principles of consolidation The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of all majority-owned
subsidiaries. Investments in companies representing ownership
interests of 20% to 50% are accounted for by the equity method.
Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates and assumptions.
Cash equivalents All short-term investments purchased
with a maturity of three months or less are classified as cash
equivalents.
Inventories Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or
market. Cost is determined principally on the first-in, first-out
method.
Properties Properties are carried at cost and are
depreciated over the estimated lives of such assets using the
straight-line method. The principal estimated lives used are
summarized below:

Estimated life (years)

Buildings 20-50

Machinery and office equipment 4-7

Rental equipment 4

Internal-use software 3-10

Advertising costs The company expenses all advertising
costs as they are incurred. The amount charged to expense
during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $10.8 million, $17.9 million
and $29.3 million, respectively.
Shipping and handling Costs related to shipping and
handling are included in cost of revenue.
Revenue recognition The company recognizes revenue
when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collectibility 
is probable.

Revenue from hardware sales is recognized upon shipment
and the passage of title. Outside the United States, the company
recognizes revenue even if it retains a form of title to products
delivered to customers, provided the sole purpose is to enable
the company to recover the products in the event of customer
payment default and the arrangement does not prohibit the cus-
tomer’s use of the product in the ordinary course of business.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Income taxes Income taxes are based on income (loss) for
financial reporting purposes and reflect a current tax liability
(asset) for the estimated taxes payable (recoverable) in the cur-
rent year tax return and changes in deferred taxes. Deferred tax
assets or liabilities are determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities
and are measured using enacted tax laws and rates. A valuation
allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined
that it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized.
Marketable software The cost of development of computer
software to be sold or leased, incurred subsequent to establish-
ment of technological feasibility, is capitalized and amortized to cost
of sales over the estimated revenue-producing lives of the prod-
ucts, but not in excess of three years following product release.
The company performs quarterly reviews to ensure that unamor-
tized costs remain recoverable from future revenue.
Internal-use software In accordance with SOP 98-1,
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use,” the company capitalizes certain internal
and external costs incurred to acquire or create internal-use soft-
ware, principally related to software coding, designing system
interfaces, and installation and testing of the software. These
costs are amortized in accordance with the fixed asset policy
described above.
Outsourcing assets Costs on outsourcing contracts are
generally expensed as incurred. However, certain costs incurred
upon initiation of an outsourcing contract are deferred and
expensed over the contract life. These costs consist principally of
initial customer setup and employment obligations related to
employees assumed. Additionally, marketable software develop-
ment costs incurred to develop specific application software for
outsourcing are capitalized once technological feasibility has been
established. Capitalized software used in outsourcing arrange-
ments is amortized based on current and estimated future rev-
enue from the product. The amortization expense is not less than
straight-line amortization expense over the product’s useful life.
Fixed assets acquired in connection with outsourcing contracts are
capitalized and depreciated over the shorter of the contract life or
in accordance with the fixed asset policy described above.  

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is subject to various busi-
ness risks, including the timely completion and ultimate cost of
the outsourcing solution, realization of expected profitability of
existing outsourcing contracts and obtaining additional out-
sourcing customers. The company quarterly compares the fair
value of the outsourcing assets with the undiscounted future
cash flows expected to be generated by the outsourcing assets
to determine if there is an impairment. If impaired, the out-
sourcing assets are reduced to an estimated fair value on a dis-
counted cash flow approach. The company prepares its cash
flow estimates based on assumptions that it believes to be 
reasonable but are also inherently uncertain. Actual future cash
flows could differ from these estimates.

Translation of foreign currency The local currency 
is the functional currency for most of the company’s interna-
tional subsidiaries, and as such, assets and liabilities are trans-
lated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates. Income and
expense items are translated at average exchange rates
during the year. Translation adjustments resulting from
changes in exchange rates are reported in other comprehen-
sive income. Exchange gains and losses on intercompany 
balances are reported in other income (expense), net.

For those international subsidiaries operating in hyper-
inflationary economies, the U.S. dollar is the functional
currency, and as such, nonmonetary assets and liabilities are
translated at historical exchange rates, and monetary assets
and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates.
Exchange gains and losses arising from translation are
included in other income (expense), net.
Stock-based compensation plans The company 
has stock-based employee compensation plans, which are
described more fully in Note 17. The company applies the
recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations in accounting for those plans. For stock
options, no compensation expense is reflected in net income,
as all stock options granted had an exercise price equal to or
greater than the market value of the underlying common
stock on the date of grant. In addition, no compensation
expense is recognized for common stock purchases under
the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Pro forma information
regarding net income and earnings per share is required by
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and has been
determined as if the company had accounted for its stock
plans under the fair value method of SFAS No. 123. For pur-
poses of the pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of
the options is amortized to expense over the options’ vesting
period. The following table illustrates the effect on net income
and earnings per share if the company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123.

Year ended December 31
(millions, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Net income as reported $ 38.6 $ 258.7 $ 223.0

Deduct total stock-based employee 
compensation expense determined 
under fair value method for all 
awards, net of tax (32.6) (47.7) (49.0)

Pro forma net income $ 6.0 $ 211.0 $ 174.0

Earnings per share

Basic – as reported $ .12 $ .79 $ .69

Basic – pro forma $ .02 $ .64 $ .54

Diluted – as reported $ .11 $ .78 $ .69

Diluted – pro forma $ .02 $ .63 $ .54
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At December 31 of each year, the company determines
the fair value of its pension plan assets as well as the 
discount rate to be used to calculate the present value of
plan liabilities. The discount rate is an estimate of the
interest rate at which the pension benefits could be effec-
tively settled. In estimating the discount rate, the company
looks to rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income
investments currently available and expected to be avail-
able during the period to maturity of the pension benefits.
The company specifically uses a portfolio of fixed-income
securities, which receive at least the second-highest rating
given by a recognized ratings agency.
Reclassifications Certain prior-year amounts have
been reclassified to conform with the 2004 presentation.

2. Earnings per share

The following table shows how earnings per share were
computed for the three years ended December 31, 2004.

Year ended December 31 
(millions, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Basic earnings per share computation

Net income $ 38.6 $ 258.7 $ 223.0

Weighted average shares (thousands) 334,896 329,349 323,526

Basic earnings per share $ .12 $ .79 $ .69

Diluted earnings per share computation

Net income  $ 38.6 $ 258.7 $ 223.0

Weighted average shares (thousands) 334,896 329,349 323,526

Plus incremental shares from assumed conversions of

employee stock plans 3,321 3,599 3,1,218 53

Adjusted weighted average shares 338,217 332,948 324,744

Diluted earnings per share $ .11 $ .78 $ .69

The following shares were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share, because the option prices were above the
average market price of the company’s common stock, (in thousands): 2004, 35,581; 2003, 22,005; 2002, 35,415.

Retirement benefits The company accounts for its
defined benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS No.
87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” which requires
that amounts recognized in financial statements be deter-
mined on an actuarial basis. A significant element in deter-
mining the company’s pension income (expense) is the
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. This
expected return is an assumption as to the average rate of
earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested
to provide for the benefits included in the projected pen-
sion benefit obligation. The company applies this assumed
long-term rate of return to a calculated value of plan
assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan
assets in a systematic manner over four years. This pro-
duces the expected return on plan assets that is included
in pension income (expense). The difference between this
expected return and the actual return on plan assets is
deferred. The net deferral of past asset gains (losses)
affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately,
future pension income (expense).
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3.  2004 significant items

The company recorded a pretax, non-cash impairment charge
of $125.6 million, or $.26 per share, to write off all of the 
contract-related long-lived assets related to one of the com-
pany’s outsourcing operations in the fourth quarter of 2004.
The entire charge was recorded in services cost of revenue 
in the company’s Services segment. In the fourth quarter,
impairment indicators arose, resulting in significantly lower
estimates of future cash flows from the outsourcing assets.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the company favor-
ably settled various income tax audit issues. As a result of
the settlements, the company recorded a tax benefit of
$28.8 million, or $.09 per share.

During the third quarter of 2004, the U.S. Congressional
Joint Committee on Taxation approved an income tax
refund to the company related to the settlement of 
tax audit issues dating from the mid-1980s. The refund,
including interest, is approximately $40 million and is
recorded in current accounts receivable in the company’s
consolidated balance sheet. After payment of related state
taxes, the company expects a net cash refund of approxi-
mately $30 million in early 2005. As a result of the resolu-
tion of these audit issues, the company recorded a tax
benefit of $68.2 million, or $.20 per diluted share. The
company also recorded a reduction of goodwill of $8.0 mil-
lion, as certain amounts of the tax benefit related to the
preacquisition period of an acquired entity.

As part of its ongoing efforts to reduce its cost base 
and enhance its administrative efficiency, on September 30,
2004, the company consolidated facility space and com-
mitted to a work force reduction of 1,415 employees, pri-
marily in general and administrative areas. These actions
resulted in a pretax charge of $82.0 million, or $.18 per
diluted share. The charge related to work force reductions 
is $75.3 million and comprises: (a) 752 employees in the
U.S. for a charge of $23.2 million and (b) 663 employees
outside the U.S. for a charge of $52.1 million. The charge for
work force reductions is principally related to severance
costs. The facility charge of $6.7 million relates principally to
a single U.S. leased property that the company ceased using
as of September 30, 2004. The facility charge represents the
fair value of the liability at the cease-use date and was deter-
mined based on the remaining lease rental payments,
reduced by estimated sublease rentals that could be reason-
ably obtained for the property. The work force reductions are
expected to be substantially completed by the end of the
second quarter of 2005. The company anticipates that these
actions will yield approximately $70 million of annualized
cost savings on a run-rate basis by the end of 2005. Cash
expenditures related to these actions during 2004 were $6.8
million and are expected to be approximately $65 million in
2005 and $16 million in total for all subsequent years.

The pretax charge was recorded in the following
statement of income classifications: cost of revenue-
services, $28.1 million; selling, general and administra-
tive expenses, $50.2 million; research and development
expenses, $8.4 million; and other income (expense), net,
$4.7 million. The income recorded in other income
(expense), net relates to the minority shareholders’ por-
tion of the charge related to a 51%-owned subsidiary,
which is consolidated by the company.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, to further reduce its
cost base and enhance its administrative efficiency, the
company identified additional cost reduction actions and
recorded a provision of $3.4 million, for a work force
reduction of 106 people.

A further breakdown of the individual components of
these costs follows:

Work Force
Reductions* Idle

($ in millions) Headcount Total U.S. Int'l Lease Cost

Work force 
reductions* 1,415 $75.3 $23.2 $52.1

Other 6.7 $6.7

Total charge 1,415 82.0 23.2 52.1 6.7

Minority interest 1,400 4.7 23.2 4.7 6.7

Balance at
Sept. 30, 2004 1,415 86.7 23.2 56.8 6.7

Utilized (404) (6.8) (1.7) (4.1) (1.0)

Additional provisions 106 3.4 1.2 2.2

Changes in estimates
and revisions (266) (6.7) (.2) (6.5)

Translation
adjustments 4.5 4.5 

Balance at 
Dec. 31, 2004 851 $81.1 $22.5 $52.9 $5.7.

Expected future
utilization:

2005 851 $65.0 $22.5 $39.8 $2.7.
2006 and 
thereafter – 16.1 – 13.1 3.0

* Includes severance, notice pay, medical and other benefits.

As a result of prior-year cost reduction actions, cash
expenditures in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $11.8 million,
$58.4 million and $104.4 million, respectively. At
December 31, 2004, a $12.1 million accrued liability
remains principally for idle lease costs. Cash expendi-
tures in 2005 related to these actions are expected to be
approximately $7.2 million.
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4. Acquisitions and goodwill

In November 2003, the company purchased KPMG’s Belgian
consulting business for approximately $3.3 million of cash,
plus assumed liabilities. The purchase price allocation was
finalized in March 2004 and approximately $1.5 million of
amortizable intangible assets (principally customer relation-
ships) were identified and recorded with a weighted average
life of approximately 5.5 years. The goodwill from this acqui-
sition has been assigned to the Services segment.

In April 2004, the company purchased the document ser-
vices business unit of Interpay Nederlands B.V. (Interpay) for
$5.2 million. This business unit processes approximately 110
million paper-related payments a year for Dutch banks. The
purchase price was allocated to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values, and resulted in
goodwill of $3.4 million. The acquisition provides for the com-
pany to make contingent payments to Interpay based on the
achievement of certain future revenue levels. The contingent
consideration will be recorded as additional goodwill when
the contingencies are resolved and consideration is issued or
becomes issuable. The goodwill from this acquisition has
been assigned to the Services segment.

In June 2004, the company purchased the security ser-
vices and identity and access management solutions busi-
ness of ePresence, Inc., whose consultants design and
implement enterprise directory and security solutions that
enable identity management within and across organiza-
tions. The purchase price of $10.6 million was allocated to
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their esti-
mated fair values. Approximately $.7 million of amortizable
intangible assets (principally customer relationships) were
identified and recorded. The intangible assets have a
weighted average life of approximately 3.8 years. The good-
will from this acquisition (approximately $7.5 million) has
been assigned to the Services segment.

In July 2004, the company purchased Baesch Computer
Consulting, Inc., a provider of technology solutions and ser-
vices to the U.S. intelligence and defense communities, for
$6.0 million. The purchase price was allocated to assets
acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated
fair values, and resulted in goodwill of $6.3 million. The
goodwill from this acquisition has been assigned to the 
Services segment.

The company accounts for goodwill and other intangible
assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.” These assets are reviewed
annually for impairment in accordance with this statement.
SFAS No. 142 requires a company to perform an impair-
ment test on an annual basis and whenever events or 
circumstances occur indicating that the goodwill may be
impaired. During 2004, the company performed its annual
impairment test, which indicated that the company’s 
goodwill was not impaired.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by 
segment for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003, were as follows:

(millions) Total Services Technology

Balance at 
December 31, 2002 $160.6 $42.5 $118.1

Acquisitions 10.3 10.3

Foreign currency
translation adjustments 6.6 4.5 2.1

Balance at 
December 31, 2003 177.5 57.3 120.2

Acquisitions 17.2 17.2

Transfers(1) (1.5) (1.5)

Foreign currency
translation adjustments 3.8 2.4 1.4

Other(2) 6(7.1) (.3) (6.8)

Balance at 
December 31, 2004 $189.9 $75.1 $114.8

(1) Transfer to amortizable intangible assets upon finalization of the purchase
price allocation in March 2004 relating to the acquisition of KPMG’s Belgian
consulting business.

(2) Principally represents the amount of the tax benefit received related to the    
preaquisition period of an acquired entity. See Note 3.
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5. Recent accounting pronounce-
ments and accounting changes

On December 21, 2004, the Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS
109-2 (FSP No. 109-2), “Accounting and Disclosure
Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provi-
sions within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004”
(the Jobs Act). FSP No. 109-2 provides guidance with
respect to reporting the potential impact of the repatria-
tion provisions of the Jobs Act on an enterprise’s
income tax expense and deferred tax liability. The Jobs
Act was enacted on October 22, 2004, and provides for
a temporary 85% dividends received deduction on cer-
tain foreign earnings repatriated during a one-year
period. The deduction would result in an approximate
5.25% federal tax rate on the repatriated earnings. To
qualify for the deduction, the earnings must be rein-
vested in the United States pursuant to a domestic rein-
vestment plan established by a company’s chief
executive officer and approved by a company’s board of
directors. Certain other criteria in the Jobs Act must be
satisfied as well. FSP No. 109-2 states that an enter-
prise is allowed time beyond the financial reporting
period to evaluate the effect of the Jobs Act on its plan
for reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings.
Although the company has not yet completed its evalu-
ation of the impact of the repatriation provisions of the
Jobs Act, the company does not expect that these pro-
visions will have a material impact on its consolidated
financial position, consolidated results of operations, or
liquidity. Accordingly, as provided for in FSP No. 109-2,
the company has not adjusted its tax expense or
deferred tax liability to reflect the repatriation provisions
of the Jobs Act.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123
(revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No.
123R), which replaces SFAS No. 123 and supersedes
APB Opinion No. 25. SFAS No. 123R requires all share-
based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be recognized in the finan-
cial statements based on their fair values beginning
with the first interim period after June 15, 2005, with
early adoption encouraged. The pro forma disclosures
previously permitted under SFAS No. 123 no longer will
be an alternative to financial statement recognition. The
company is required to adopt SFAS No. 123R in the
third quarter of 2005. Under SFAS No. 123R, the com-
pany must determine the appropriate fair value model

to be used for valuing share-based payments, the amorti-
zation method for compensation cost and the transition
method to be used at date of adoption. The permitted
transition methods include either retrospective or prospec-
tive adoption. Under the retrospective option, prior periods
may be restated either as of the beginning of the year of
adoption or for all periods presented. The prospective
method requires that compensation expense be recorded
for all unvested stock options at the beginning of the first
quarter of adoption of SFAS No. 123R, while the retro-
spective methods would record compensation expense for
all unvested stock options beginning with the first period
presented. The company is currently evaluating the
requirements of SFAS No. 123R and expects that adoption
of SFAS No. 123R will have a material impact on the com-
pany’s consolidated financial position and consolidated
results of operations. The company has not yet deter-
mined the method of adoption or the effect of adopting
SFAS No. 123R, and it has not determined whether the
adoption will result in amounts that are similar to the cur-
rent pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123. See
stock-based compensation plans in Note 1.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153,
“Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of
APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transac-
tions” (SFAS No. 153). SFAS No. 153 eliminates the
exception from fair value measurement for nonmonetary
exchanges of similar productive assets in paragraph 21 (b)
of APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary
Transactions,” and replaces it with an exception for
exchanges that do not have commercial substance. SFAS
No. 153 specifies that a nonmonetary exchange has com-
mercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are
expected to change significantly as a result of the
exchange. SFAS No. 153 is effective for periods beginning
after June 15, 2005. The company does not expect that
adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have a material effect on its
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of
operations, or liquidity. 
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In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151,
“Inventory Costs an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter
4” (SFAS No. 151). SFAS No. 151 amends the guidance in
ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the
accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
handling costs and wasted material (spoilage). Among
other provisions, the new rule requires that such items be
recognized as current-period charges, regardless of
whether they meet the criterion of “so abnormal” as
stated in ARB No. 43. SFAS No. 151 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2005. The company does
not expect that adoption of SFAS No. 151 will have a
material effect on its consolidated financial position, con-
solidated results of operations, or liquidity.

On May 19, 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 106-2 (FSP No. 106-2), “Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003” (the Act). The
Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare,
as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health
care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least actu-
arially equivalent to Medicare Part D. FSP No. 106-2 is effec-
tive for the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2004,
and provides that an employer shall measure the accumu-
lated plan benefit obligation (APBO) and net periodic postre-
tirement benefit cost, taking into account any subsidy
received under the Act. As of December 31, 2004, the com-
pany’s measurements of both the APBO and the net postre-
tirement benefit cost do not reflect any amounts associated
with the subsidy. While final regulations have not been
released, guidance provided to date implies that the com-
pany’s plan will probably not be considered actuarially
equivalent to Medicare Part D. Accordingly, the company
does not expect that adoption of FSP No. 106-2 will have 
a material effect on its consolidated financial position, 
consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46
(FIN 46), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an inter-
pretation of ARB 51.” The primary objectives of this interpre-
tation are to provide guidance on the identification of entities
for which control is achieved through means other than
through voting rights (variable interest entities) and how to
determine when and which business enterprise (the primary
beneficiary) should consolidate the variable interest entity.
This new model for consolidation applies to an entity in
which either (a) the equity investors (if any) do not have a
controlling financial interest, or (b) the equity investment at
risk is insufficient to finance that entity’s activities without
receiving additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. In addition, FIN 46 requires that the primary benefi-
ciary, as well as all other enterprises with a significant vari-
able interest in a variable interest entity, make additional

disclosures. Certain disclosure requirements of FIN 46 were
effective for financial statements issued after January 31,
2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46 (revised
December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Enti-
ties” (FIN 46-R) to address certain FIN 46 implementation
issues.

The provisions of FIN 46 were applicable for variable inter-
ests in entities obtained after January 31, 2003. The adop-
tion of the provisions applicable to special purpose entities
(SPEs) and all other variable interests obtained after January
31, 2003, did not have a material impact on the company’s
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of opera-
tions, or liquidity.

Effective March 31, 2004, the company adopted the pro-
visions of FIN 46-R applicable to non-SPEs created prior to
February 1, 2003. Adoption of FIN 46-R had no impact on
the company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated
results of operations, or liquidity. 

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted SFAS 
No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Cor-
rections.” SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, which
required that all gains and losses from extinguishment of
debt be reported as an extraordinary item. Previously
recorded losses on the early extinguishment of debts that
were classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods have
been reclassified to other income (expense), net. The adop-
tion of SFAS No. 145 had no effect on the company’s consol-
idated financial position, consolidated results of operations,
or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted SFAS
No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Dis-
posal Activities.” SFAS No. 146 requires companies to rec-
ognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when
they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to
an exit or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 replaces previous
accounting guidance provided by Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an
Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),”
and is effective for the company for exit or disposal activities
initiated after December 31, 2002. Adoption of this state-
ment had no material impact on the company’s consolidated
financial position, consolidated results of operations, 
or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted FASB 
Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclo-
sure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guar-
antees of Indebtedness of Others, an Interpretation of FASB
Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Inter-
pretation No. 34” (FIN 45). The interpretation requires that
upon issuance of a guarantee, the entity must recognize a
liability for the fair value of the obligation it assumes under
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that guarantee. In addition, FIN 45 requires disclosures
about the guarantees that an entity has issued, including a
roll-forward of the entity’s product warranty liabilities. This
interpretation is intended to improve the comparability of
financial reporting by requiring identical accounting for
guarantees issued with separately identified considera-
tion and guarantees issued without separately identified
consideration. Adoption of this interpretation had no
material impact on the company’s consolidated financial
position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective July 1, 2003, the company adopted the
FASB’s consensus on EITF Issue No. 00-21,
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables.” This issue addresses how to account for
arrangements that may involve the delivery or perform-
ance of multiple products, services, and/or rights to use
assets. The final consensus of this issue is applicable to
agreements entered into in fiscal periods beginning
after June 15, 2003. Adoption of this issue had no
material impact on the company’s consolidated financial
position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity. 

In May 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue
No. 03-5, “Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, to Non-Software
Deliverables in an Arrangement Containing More-Than-
Incidental Software.” The FASB ratified this consensus in
August 2003. EITF Issue No. 03-5 affirms that AICPA
Statement of Position 97-2 applies to non-software
deliverables, such as hardware and services, in an
arrangement if the software is essential to the function-
ality of the non-software deliverables. The adoption of
EITF Issue No. 03-5 did not have a material impact on
the company’s consolidated financial position, consoli-
dated results of operations, or liquidity.

6. Accounts receivable

In December 2003, the company renewed its agreement
to sell, through Unisys Funding Corporation I, a wholly
owned subsidiary, interests in eligible U.S. trade accounts
receivable for up to $225 million. The agreement is renew-
able annually, at the purchasers’ option, for up to three
years. Unisys Funding Corporation I has been structured
to isolate its assets from creditors of Unisys. The com-
pany received proceeds of $1.5 billion in 2004, and $2.3
billion, in each of 2003 and 2002, from ongoing sales of
accounts receivable interests under the program. At each
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the company retained
subordinated interests of $144 million in the associated
receivables; these receivables have been included in
accounts and notes receivable in the accompanying con-
solidated balance sheets. As collections reduce previously
sold interests, interests in new, eligible receivables can be

sold, subject to meeting certain conditions. At each of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, receivables of $225 million
were sold and therefore removed from the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

The selling price of the receivables interests reflects a
discount (2.3% at December 31, 2004, and 1.1% at
December 31, 2003) based on the A-1 rated commercial
paper borrowing rates of the purchasers. The company
remains responsible for servicing the underlying accounts
receivable, for which it will receive a fee of 0.5% of the
outstanding balance, which it believes represents ade-
quate compensation. The company estimates the fair
value of its retained interests by considering two key
assumptions: the payment rate, which is derived from the
average life of the accounts receivable, which is less than
60 days, and the rate of expected credit losses. Based on
the company’s favorable collection experience and very
short-term nature of the receivables, both assumptions
are considered to be highly predictable. Therefore, the
company’s estimated fair value of its retained interests in
the pool of eligible receivables is approximately equal to
book value, less the associated allowance for doubtful
accounts. The discount on the sales of these accounts
receivable during the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, was $3.3 million, $3.4 million and $4.2
million, respectively. These discounts are recorded in
other income (expense), net in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of income. 

Accounts receivable consist principally of trade
accounts receivable from customers and are generally
unsecured and due within 30 days. Credit losses relating
to these receivables consistently have been within man-
agement’s expectations. Expected credit losses are
recorded as an allowance for doubtful accounts in the con-
solidated balance sheets. Estimates of expected credit
losses are based primarily on the aging of the accounts
receivable balances. The collection policies and proce-
dures of the company vary by credit class and prior pay-
ment history of customers.

Revenue recognized in excess of billings on services
contracts, or unbilled accounts receivable, was $218.9 mil-
lion and $146.7 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Such amounts are included in accounts and
notes receivable, net. At December 31, 2004 and 2003,
the company had long-term accounts and notes receiv-
able, net of $114.4 million and $141.0 million, respectively.
Such amounts are included in other long-term assets in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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The tax effects of temporary differences and
carryforwards that give rise to significant portions of
deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2004
and 2003, were as follows:

December 31 (millions)                             2004 2003

Deferred tax assets

Capitalized research and 
development $ 522.1 $ 534.5

Tax loss carryforwards 487.1 395.2

Other tax credit carryforwards 216.1 238.8

Capitalized intellectual 
property rights 213.8 254.3

Foreign tax credit carryforwards 182.6 139.3

Pensions 169.6 156.2

Deferred revenue 115.1 120.7

Depreciation 81.0 66.2

Postretirement benefits 59.8 64.3

Employee benefits 47.0 50.4

Impairment charge related to
outsourcing assets 37.7 –

Restructuring 27.7 8.3

Other 165.1 177.4

2,324.7 2,205.6

Valuation allowance (531.9) (450.7)

Total deferred tax assets $1,792.8 $1,754.9

Deferred tax liabilities

Sales-type leases $ 59.6 $ 72.2

Other 108.5 99.9

Total deferred tax liabilities $ 168.1 $ 172.1

Net deferred tax assets $1,624.7 $1,582.8

SFAS No. 109 requires that deferred tax assets be
reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will
not be realized. The valuation allowance at December 31,
2004, applies principally to tax loss carryforwards and 
temporary differences relating to state and local and cer-
tain foreign taxing jurisdictions that, in management’s
opinion, are more likely than not to expire unused. During
2004, the net increase in the valuation allowance of 
$81.2 million was principally related to an increase in 
foreign deferred tax assets resulting from foreign sub-
sidiary losses and currency translation adjustments, and
U.S. tax credit carryforwards. 

Unearned income, which is reported as a deduction
from accounts and notes receivable, was $18.2 million
and $14.7 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The allowance for doubtful accounts, which
is reported as a deduction from accounts and notes
receivable, was $49.6 million and $49.8 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

7. Income taxes

Year ended December 31 (millions)       2004 2003 2002

Income (loss) before income taxes

United States $ (34.7) $177.7 $125.7

Foreign (41.3) 202.8 207.1

Total income (loss) before 
income taxes $ (76.0) $380.5 $332.8

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 

Current

United States $ (8.5) $ (34.5) $ (6.5)

Foreign 10.8 49.1 62.4

State and local (97.1) 17.2 7.7

Total (94.8) 31.8 63.6

Deferred

United States 19.3 45.9 19.2

Foreign (39.1) 44.1 27.0

Total (19.8) 90.0 46.2

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $(114.6) $121.8 $109.8

Following is a reconciliation of the provision (benefit)
for income taxes at the United States statutory tax rate
to the provision (benefit) for income taxes as reported:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2004 2003       2002

United States statutory income 
tax (benefit) $ (26.6) $133.2 $116.5

Foreign taxes (9.2) 17.4 (4.1)

Tax refund claims, audit issues
and other matters  
U.S. federal (14.0) (36.3) (16.0)
U.S. state (63.1) 11.1 5.0

Other (1.7) (3.6) 8.4

Provision (benefit) for income taxes $(114.6) $121.8 $109.8
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Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign sub-
sidiaries, for which no U.S. income or foreign withholding
taxes have been recorded, approximated $1.03 billion 
at December 31, 2004. As the company intends to per-
manently reinvest all such earnings, no provision has
been made for income taxes that may become payable
upon distribution of such earnings, and it is not practi-
cable to determine the amount of the related unrecog-
nized deferred income tax liability. Although there are no
specific plans to distribute the undistributed earnings in
the immediate future, where economically appropriate to
do so, such earnings may be remitted.

Cash paid, net of refunds, during 2004, 2003 and
2002 for income taxes was $55.9 million, $64.4 million
and $72.3 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2004, the company has U.S. federal
and state and local tax loss carryforwards and foreign tax
loss carryforwards for certain foreign subsidiaries, the
tax effect of which is approximately $487.1 million.
These carryforwards will expire as follows (in millions):
2005, $4.9; 2006, $9.8; 2007, $10.7; 2008, $8.3; 2009,
$12.5; and $440.9 thereafter. The company also has
available tax credit carryforwards of approximately 
$398.7 million, which will expire as follows (in millions):
2005, $5.8; 2006, $ – ; 2007, $ – ; 2008, $13.0; 2009, 
$26.9; and $353.0 thereafter.

See Note 3 for information concerning favorable 
settlements of tax audit issues.

The company has substantial amounts of net deferred
tax assets. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income
might affect the ultimate realization of such assets. Fac-
tors that may affect the company’s ability to achieve suf-
ficient forecasted taxable income include, but are not
limited to, the following: increased competition, a
decline in sales or margins, loss of market share, delays
in product availability or technological obsolescence.

8. Properties

Properties comprise the following:

December 31 (millions)                              2004 2003

Land $ 5.3 $ 5.5

Buildings 140.0 145.7

Machinery and office equipment 879.8 927.3

Internal-use software 197.7 179.5

Rental equipment 82.7 94.7

Total properties $1,305.5 $1,352.7

9. Investments at equity and 
minority interests

Substantially all of the company’s investments at equity
consist of Nihon Unisys, Ltd., a publicly traded Japanese
company (NUL). NUL is the exclusive supplier of the com-
pany’s hardware and software products in Japan. The com-
pany considers its investment in NUL to be of a long-term
strategic nature. For the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, total direct and indirect sales to NUL were
approximately $240 million, $275 million and $270 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2004, the company owned
approximately 29% of NUL’s common stock that had a
market value of approximately $318 million. Prior to Jan-
uary 1, 2004, the company’s share of NUL’s earnings or
losses was recorded semiannually in the second quarter
and fourth quarter on a quarter-lag basis because NUL’s
quarterly financial results were not available. Due to recent
regulatory changes in Japan, NUL is required to publish its
earnings quarterly. Accordingly, effective January 1, 2004,
the company has begun to record its equity earnings in
NUL quarterly on a quarter-lag basis in other income
(expense), net in the company’s consolidated statements
of income. During the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, the company recorded equity income or
(loss) related to NUL of $16.2 million, $18.2 million and
$(11.8) million, respectively. The year ended December 31,
2003, included $12.2 million income related to the com-
pany’s share of a subsidy recorded by NUL upon transfer 
of a portion of its pension plan obligation to the Japanese
government. The year ended December 31, 2002, included
a $21.8 million charge related to the company’s share of an
early retirement charge recorded by NUL. The company
has approximately $199 million of retained earnings that
represent undistributed earnings of NUL. The revenue 
and the equity earnings from NUL are included in the 
company’s Technology segment. See Note 16.

Summarized financial information for NUL as of and 
for its fiscal years ended March 31 is as follows:

(millions) 2004 2003 2002

Year ended March 31
Revenue $2,740.8 $2,535.6 $ 2,451.8
Gross profit 659.8 645.9 646.0
Pretax income (loss) 78.8 128.4 (101.2)
Net income (loss) 34.7 68.5 (62.4)

At March 31
Current assets 1,322.1 1,178.8 1,257.6
Noncurrent assets 970.6 903.1 892.3
Current liabilities 861.6 772.0 936.3
Noncurrent liabilities 686.4 782.7 851.2
Minority interests 5.4 14.2 10.7
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of transactions, which could reduce the amount the com-
pany is able to borrow. Events of default under the credit
agreement include failure to perform covenants, material
adverse change, change of control and default under other
debt aggregating at least $25 million. If an event of default
were to occur under the credit agreement, the lenders
would be entitled to declare all amounts borrowed under
it immediately due and payable. The occurrence of an
event of default under the credit agreement could also cause
the acceleration of obligations under certain other agree-
ments and the termination of the company’s U.S. trade
accounts receivable facility. In light of the company’s 2004
fourth quarter results (see Note 3), the company requested
and obtained a waiver of one of its financial covenants at
December 31, 2004, and an amendment of certain financial
covenants going forward, from its various lenders. The entire
$500 million of the credit agreement is available for 
borrowing as of December 31, 2004. In addition, the com-
pany and certain international subsidiaries have access to
uncommitted lines of credit from various banks. 

11. Other accrued liabilities

Other accrued liabilities (current) comprise the following:

December 31 (millions)                             2004 2003

Deferred revenue $ 637.5 $ 625.7

Payrolls and commissions 163.9 197.3

Accrued vacations 133.4 128.6

Taxes other than income taxes 98.9 72.9

Restructuring* 72.2 12.1

Other 210.2 2269.1

Total other accrued liabilities $1,316.1 $ 1,305.7

* At December 31, 2004 and 2003, an additional $21.0 million and $6.4 million,
respectively, were reported in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheets.

The company owns 51% of Intelligent Processing 
Solutions Limited (iPSL), a U.K.-based company, which pro-
vides high-volume payment processing. iPSL is consolidated
in the company’s financial statements. The minority owners’
interests are reported in other long-term liabilities ($37.1 
million and $48.9 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively) and in other income (expense), net ($11.9 mil-
lion, $10.7 million and $.3 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively) in the company’s financial statements. 

10. Debt

Long-term debt comprises the following:

December 31 (millions)                                2004 2003

81⁄8% senior notes due 2006 $ 400.0 $ 400.0
67⁄8% senior notes due 2010 300.0 300.0
77⁄8% senior notes due 2008 200.0 200.0
71⁄4% senior notes due 2005 150.0 150.0
Other, net of unamortized

discounts .1 .5

Total 1,050.1 1,050.5
Less – current maturities 151.7 2.2

Total long-term debt $ 898.4 $1,048.3

Total long-term debt maturities in 2005, 2006, 2007,
2008, 2009 and 2010 are $151.7 million, $400.9 million,
$.4 million, $200.0 million, $ – million and $300.0 million,
respectively.

Cash paid during 2004, 2003 and 2002 for interest was
$83.2 million, $76.6 million and $73.6 million, respectively.
Capitalized interest expense during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
$16.3 million, $14.5 million and $13.9 million, respectively.

On January 18, 2005, the company paid $150 million
from cash on hand to retire at maturity all of its 71⁄4% senior
notes. In 2003, the company issued $300 million of 67⁄8%
senior notes due 2010.

The company has a $500 million credit agreement that
expires in May 2006 with no amounts outstanding as of
December 31, 2004. Borrowings under the credit agree-
ment bear interest based on the then-current LIBOR or
prime rates and the company’s credit rating. The credit
agreement contains financial and other covenants,
including maintenance of certain financial ratios, a min-
imum level of net worth and limitations on certain types 
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13. Rental expense and commitments

Rental expense, less income from subleases, for 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $184.7 million, $165.6 million and
$159.0 million, respectively.

Minimum net rental commitments under noncancelable
operating leases outstanding at December 31, 2004, 
substantially all of which relate to real properties, were as
follows: 2005, $142.6 million; 2006, $118.8 million; 2007,
$98.8 million; 2008, $76.9 million; 2009, $54.7 million; and
$227.0 million thereafter. Such rental commitments have
been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $117.9 
million, due in the future under noncancelable subleases.

In 2003, the company entered into a new lease for its
facility at Malvern, Pa., that replaced a former lease that
was due to expire in March 2005. The new lease has a
60-month term expiring in June 2008. Under the new
lease, the company has the option to purchase the facility
at any time for approximately $34 million. In addition, if
the company does not exercise its purchase option and
the lessor sells the facility at the end of the lease term for
a price that is less than approximately $34 million, the
company will be required to guarantee the lessor a
residual value on the property of up to $29 million. The
lessor is a substantive independent leasing company that
does not have the characteristics of a variable interest
entity as defined by FIN 46 and is therefore not consoli-
dated by the company.

The company has accounted for the lease as an oper-
ating lease and, therefore, neither the leased facility nor
the related debt is reported in the company’s accompa-
nying consolidated balance sheets. As stated above, under
the lease, the company is required to provide a guaranteed
residual value on the facility of up to $29 million to the
lessor at the end of the 60-month lease term. The com-
pany recognized a liability of approximately $1 million for
the related residual value guarantee. The value of the guar-
antee was determined by computing the estimated present
value of probability-weighted cash flows that might be
expended under the guarantee, discounted using the com-
pany’s incremental borrowing rate of approximately 6.5%.
The company has recorded a liability for the fair value of
the obligation with a corresponding asset recorded as pre-
paid rent, which will be amortized to rental expense over
the lease term. The liability will be subsequently assessed
and adjusted to fair value as necessary.

At December 31, 2004, the company had outstanding
standby letters of credit and surety bonds of approxi-
mately $266 million related to performance and payment
guarantees. On the basis of experience with these
arrangements, the company believes that any obligations
that may arise will not be material.

12. Product warranty

For equipment manufactured by the company, the com-
pany warrants that it will substantially conform to relevant
published specifications for 12 months after shipment to
the customer. The company will repair or replace, at its
option and expense, items of equipment that do not 
meet this warranty. For company software, the company
warrants that it will conform substantially to then-current
published functional specifications for 90 days from cus-
tomer’s receipt. The company will provide a workaround
or correction for material errors in its software that 
prevent its use in a production environment. 

The company estimates the costs that may be incurred
under its warranties and records a liability in the amount of
such costs at the time revenue is recognized. Factors that
affect the company’s warranty liability include the number of
units sold, historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims
and cost per claim. The company quarterly assesses the
adequacy of its recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts the
amounts as necessary. Presented below is a reconciliation 
of the aggregate product warranty liability:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2004 2003

Balance at January 1 $ 20.8 $ 19.2

Accruals for warranties issued
during the period 11.8 23.5

Settlements made during the period (16.1) (18.3)

Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties 
during the period, including expirations (4.9) (3.6)

Balance at December 31 $ 11.6 $ 20.8
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company is required to reclassify any gains or losses out of
other comprehensive income and into earnings. The amount
of such reclassifications during the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 was immaterial.

In addition to the cash flow hedge derivatives mentioned
above, the company enters into foreign exchange forward con-
tracts that have not been designated as hedging instruments.
Such contracts generally have maturities of one month and are
used by the company to manage its exposure to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates principally on intercompany
accounts. The fair value of such instruments is recognized as
either assets or liabilities in the company’s consolidated bal-
ance sheets, and changes in the fair value are recognized
immediately in earnings in other income (expense), net in the
company’s consolidated statements of income.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, the company recognized foreign exchange transaction
gains or (losses) in other income (expense), net in its consoli-
dated statements of income of $(5.2) million, $(11.3) million
and $(1.2) million, respectively.

Financial instruments also include temporary cash
investments and customer accounts receivable. Temporary
investments are placed with creditworthy financial institutions,
primarily in oversecuritized treasury repurchase agreements,
Eurotime deposits, or commercial paper of major corporations.
At December 31, 2004, the company’s cash equivalents princi-
pally have maturities of less than one month. Due to the short
maturities of these instruments, they are carried on the con-
solidated balance sheets at cost plus accrued interest, which
approximates market value. Realized gains or losses during
2004 and 2003, as well as unrealized gains or losses at
December 31, 2004, were immaterial. Receivables are due
from a large number of customers that are dispersed world-
wide across many industries. At December 31, 2004 and
2003, the company had no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, notes
payable and long-term debt approximates fair value. 

15. Litigation

There are various lawsuits, claims and proceedings that 
have been brought or asserted against the company.  In
accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingen-
cies,” the company records a provision for these matters
when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and
the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Any
provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and are adjusted to
reflect the impact and status of settlements, rulings, advice
of counsel and other information pertinent to a particular
matter. Although the ultimate results of these lawsuits,
claims and proceedings are not currently determinable, the
company believes that at December 31, 2004, it has adequate
provisions for any such matters. 

14. Financial instruments

Due to its foreign operations, the company is exposed to 
the effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on
the U.S. dollar. The company uses derivative financial instru-
ments to manage its exposure to market risks from changes
in foreign currency exchange rates. The derivative instru-
ments used are foreign exchange forward contracts and 
foreign exchange options.

Certain of the company’s qualifying derivative financial
instruments have been designated as cash flow hedging
instruments. Such instruments are used to manage the com-
pany’s currency exchange rate risks for forecasted transac-
tions involving intercompany sales and royalties and
third-party royalty receipts. For the forecasted intercompany
transactions, the company generally enters into derivative
financial instruments for a six-month period by initially pur-
chasing a three-month foreign exchange option, which, at
expiration, is replaced with a three-month foreign exchange
forward contract. For forecasted third-party royalty receipts,
which are principally denominated in Japanese yen, the 
company generally purchases 12-month foreign exchange
forward contracts.

The company recognizes the fair value of its cash flow
hedge derivatives as either assets or liabilities in its consoli-
dated balance sheets. Changes in the fair value related to
the effective portion of such derivatives are recognized in
other comprehensive income until the hedged item is rec-
ognized in earnings, at which point the accumulated gain
or loss is reclassified out of other comprehensive income
and into earnings. The ineffective portion of such deriva-
tive’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in
earnings. The amount of ineffectiveness recognized in
earnings during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, related to cash flow hedge derivatives for third-
party royalties was a (loss) gain of approximately $(1.4) mil-
lion, $.5 million and $1.7 million, respectively. The
ineffective amount related to cash flow hedge derivatives
for intercompany transactions was immaterial during the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. Both the
amounts reclassified out of other comprehensive income
and into earnings and the ineffectiveness recognized in
earnings related to cash flow hedge derivatives for fore-
casted intercompany transactions are recognized in cost of
revenue, and in revenue for forecasted third-party royalties.
Substantially all of the accumulated income and loss in
other comprehensive income related to cash flow hedges
at December 31, 2004, is expected to be reclassified into
earnings within the next 12 months.

When a cash flow hedge is discontinued because it is
probable that the original forecasted transaction will not
occur by the end of the original specified time period, the
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16. Segment information

The company has two business segments: Services and
Technology. The products and services of each segment
are marketed throughout the world to commercial
businesses and governments. Revenue classifications by
segment are as follows: Services – consulting and sys-
tems integration, outsourcing, infrastructure services and
core maintenance; Technology – enterprise-class servers
and specialized technologies.

The accounting policies of each business segment are
the same as those described in the summary of signifi-
cant accounting policies. Intersegment sales and transfers
are priced as if the sales or transfers were to third parties.
Accordingly, the Technology segment recognizes interseg-
ment revenue and manufacturing profit on hardware and
software shipments to customers under Services con-
tracts. The Services segment, in turn, recognizes cus-
tomer revenue and marketing profit on such shipments 
of company hardware and software to customers. The
Services segment also includes the sale of hardware and
software products sourced from third parties that are sold
to customers through the company’s Services channels.
In the company’s consolidated statements of income, 
the manufacturing costs of products sourced from the 
Technology segment and sold to Services customers are
reported in cost of revenue for Services. 

Also included in the Technology segment’s sales and
operating profit are sales of hardware and software sold
to the Services segment for internal use in Services
engagements. The amount of such profit included in
operating income of the Technology segment for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, was
$17.9 million, $24.4 million and $19.2 million, respectively.
The profit on these transactions is eliminated in Corporate.

The company evaluates business segment performance
on operating income exclusive of restructuring charges and
unusual and nonrecurring items, which are included in 
Corporate. All corporate and centrally incurred costs are
allocated to the business segments, based principally on
revenue, employees, square footage or usage.

In 2004, the Services segment operating loss included
an impairment charge of $125.6 million. See Note 3. The
company also recognized an impairment charge in the
Services segment operating loss of approximately $11 mil-
lion for the write down to net realizable value of certain
contract-related assets.

Corporate assets are principally cash and cash equiva-
lents, prepaid pension assets and deferred income taxes.
The expense or income related to corporate assets is
allocated to the business segments. In addition, corporate
assets include an offset for interests in accounts receivable
that have been recorded as sales in accordance with SFAS
No. 140, because such receivables are included in the
assets of the business segments.

No single customer accounts for more than 10% of revenue.
Revenue from various agencies of the U.S. Government, which
is reported in both business segments, approximated $900 mil-
lion, $895 million and $579 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Included in these amounts are $53 million, $165
million and $86 million, respectively, of revenue associated with
products leased to various agencies of the U.S. Government
and sold to a third-party finance company.

A summary of the company’s operations by business 
segment for 2004, 2003 and 2002 is presented below:

(millions) Total Corporate Services Technology

2004

Customer revenue $5,820.7 $ 4,724.7 $ 1,096.0
Intersegment $ (251.8) 18.1 233.7

Total revenue $5,820.7 $ (251.8) $ 4,742.8 $ 1,329.7

Operating income 
(loss) $ (34.8) $ (88.0) $ (82.8) $ 136.0

Depreciation and
amortization 394.0 244.5 149.5

Total assets 5,620.9 2,334.7 2,364.9 921.3
Investments at 

equity 197.1 1.1 196.0
Capital expenditures 314.5 14.4 262.5 37.6

2003

Customer revenue $5,911.2 $ 4,691.9 $ 1,219.3
Intersegment $ (319.8) 25.9 293.9

Total revenue $5,911.2 $ (319.8) $ 4,717.8 $ 1,513.2

Operating income 
(loss) $ 427.7 $ (.6) $ 236.2 $ 192.1

Depreciation and
amortization 350.3 201.3 149.0

Total assets 5,469.6 2,239.1 2,256.3 974.2
Investments at 

equity 153.3 1.1 152.2
Capital expenditures 292.9 11.8 243.9 37.2

2002

Customer revenue $5,607.4 $ 4,285.1 $ 1,322.3
Intersegment $ (331.9) 38.8 293.1

Total revenue $5,607.4 $ (331.9) $ 4,323.9 $ 1,615.4

Operating income 
(loss) $ 423.2 $ (21.4) $ 256.0 $ 188.6

Depreciation and
amortization 311.1 180.5 130.6

Total assets 4,981.4 1,995.3 2,002.0 984.1
Investments at 

equity 111.8 1.1 110.7
Capital expenditures 261.8 15.3 208.0 38.5
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Geographic information about the company’s revenue,
which is principally based on location of the selling organiza-
tion, properties and outsourcing assets is presented below:

(millions)                               2004 2003             2002

Revenue

United States $2,636.0 $2,757.1 $2,500.7

United Kingdom 898.9 837.4 749.3

Other foreign 2,285.8 2,316.7 2,357.4

Total $5,820.7 $5,911.2 $5,607.4

Properties, net

United States $ 275.5 $ 278.6 $ 294.0

United Kingdom 54.3 49.7 48.7

Other foreign 94.3 95.9 104.1

Total $ 424.1 $ 424.2 $ 446.8

Outsourcing assets, net

United States $ 104.1 $ 88.0 $ 67.8

United Kingdom* 285.7 321.7 230.9

Other foreign 42.1 67.8 22.3     

Total $ 431.9 $ 477.5 $ 321.0

* Amounts in 2004 relate principally to iPSL, a 51% owned U.K.-based 
company. See Note 9.

17. Employee plans

Stock plans Under the company’s plans, stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock 
and restricted stock units may be granted to officers,
directors and other key employees.

Options have been granted to purchase the com-
pany’s common stock at an exercise price equal to or
greater than the fair market value at the date of grant.
Options generally have a maximum duration of 10 years
and become exercisable in annual installments over a
four-year period following date of grant.

Restricted stock units have been granted and are sub-
ject to forfeiture until the expiration of a specified period of
service commencing on the date of grant. Compensation
expense resulting from the awards is charged to income
ratably from the date of grant until the date the restrictions
lapse and is based on fair market value at the date of grant.
During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, $1.4 million, $.9 million and $.2 million, respectively,
was charged to income related to restricted stock units.

The company has a worldwide Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (ESPP), which enables substantially all regular employees
to purchase shares of the company’s common stock through
payroll deductions of up to 10% of eligible pay with a limit of
$25,000 per employee. The price the employee pays is 85%
of the market price at the beginning or end of a calendar
quarter, whichever is lower. During the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, employees purchased
newly issued shares from the company for $27.4 million,
$25.4 million and $24.1 million, respectively.

Presented below is a reconciliation of total business
segment operating income to consolidated income (loss)
before income taxes:

Year ended December 31

(millions)                                    2004 2003          2002

Total segment operating
income $ 53.2 $ 428.3 $ 444.6

Interest expense (69.0) (69.6) (66.5)

Other income (expense), net 27.8 22.4 (23.9)

Cost reduction charge (82.0) – –

Corporate and eliminations (6.0) (.6) (21.4)

Total income (loss) before
income taxes $ (76.0) $ 380.5 $ 332.8

Presented below is a reconciliation of total
business segment assets to consolidated assets:

December 31 (millions)             2004 2003          2002

Total segment assets $3,286.2 $3,230.5 $2,986.1

Cash and cash equivalents 660.5 635.9 301.8

Prepaid pension assets 52.5 55.5 –1.0

Deferred income taxes 1,686.4 1,654.6 1,787.3

Elimination for sale of 
receivables (249.8) (264.4) (273.5)

Other corporate assets 185.1 157.5 179.7

Total assets $5,620.9 $5,469.6 $4,981.4

Customer revenue by classes of similar products or
services, by segment, is presented below:

Year ended December 31             

(millions) 2004 2003          2002

Services

Consulting and 
systems integration      $1,651.7 $1,595.8 $1,455.6

Outsourcing 1,725.9 1,682.7 1,441.2

Infrastructure services 775.9 841.3 831.7

Core maintenance 571.2 572.1 556.6

4,724.7 4,691.9 4,285.1

Technology

Enterprise-class servers 870.3 928.7 955.9

Specialized technologies 225.7 290.6 366.4

1,096.0 1,219.3 1,322.3

Total $5,820.7 $5,911.2 $5,607.4
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U.S. employees are eligible to participate in an
employee savings plan. Under this plan, employees may
contribute a percentage of their pay for investment in
various investment alternatives. Company matching con-
tributions of up to 2% of pay are made in the form of
newly issued shares of company common stock. The
charge to income related to the company match for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, was
$19.7 million, $18.8 million and $17.9 million, respectively.

The company applies APB Opinion 25 for its stock
plans and the disclosure-only option under SFAS No.
123. Accordingly, no compensation expense is recog-
nized for stock options granted and for common stock
purchases under the ESPP.

The fair value of stock options is estimated at the
date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions for
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively: risk-free interest
rates of 3.13%, 2.89% and 4.44%, volatility factors of
the expected market price of the company’s common
stock of 55%, a weighted average expected life of the
options of five years and no dividends.

A summary of the status of stock option activity 
follows:

Year ended December 31 
(shares in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg.
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at 
beginning of year 41,498 $18.70 38,890 $19.73 28,653 $22.56

Granted 4,560 13.80 5,327 8.93 13,873 14.39
Exercised (1,256) 9.09 (736) 8.39 (647) 7.68
Forfeited and expired (1,616) 16.89 (1,983) 16.84 (2,989) 29.18

Outstanding at end of year 43,186 18.53 41,498 18.70 38,890 19.73

Exercisable at end of year 27,159 21.58 21,704 22.18 15,570 21.94

Shares available for granting
options at end of year 15,014 19,560 12,449

Weighted average fair value 
of options granted during 
the year $ 7.17 $ 4.20 $ 5.95

December 31, 2004
(shares in thousands) Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise Average Average Average
Price Range Shares Life * Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

$6.00-11.79 8,986 6.21 $ 8.76 4,449 $ 8.79
$11.80-12.88 8,659 7.14 12.12 4,194 12.12
$12.89-18.57 10,708 7.29 16.83 4,928 18.40
$18.58-30.19 9,386 4.76 26.64 8,173 26.96
$30.20-51.73 5,447 5.13 34.20 5,415 34.20

Total 43,186 6.21 18.53 27,159 21.58

* Average contractual remaining life in years.
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Information for plans with an accumulated 
benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, follows:

December 31 (millions) 2004 2003

Accumulated benefit obligation $6,078.5 $5,574.0
Fair value of plan assets 5,551.4 5,146.1

U.S. Plans International Plans  

December 31 (millions) 2004 2003 2004 2003

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $4,351.6 $4,123.9 $1,797.2 $1,317.8

Service cost 67.2 58.8 49.2 41.3

Interest cost 264.3 267.4 96.0 80.0

Plan participants’ contributions 9.3 8.5

Plan amendments (74.0) (74.0) 2.2 2.2

Actuarial loss 204.8 194.2 145.9 92.8

Benefits paid (295.4) (292.7) (55.6) (44.5)

Termination payments 16.8 5.0

Foreign currency translation adjustments 180.6 211.4

Other* 82.7 82.7

Benefit obligation at end of year $4,592.5 $4,351.6 $2,239.4 $1,797.2

Accumulated benefit obligation $4,570.3 $4,327.2 $1,922.4 $1,561.5

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $4,129.5 $3,574.4 $1,356.2 $ 974.6

Actual return on plan assets 524.2 841.9 121.0 118.8

Employer contribution 5.6 5.9 57.2 56.6

Plan participants’ contributions 9.3 8.5

Benefits paid (295.4) (292.7) (55.6) (44.5)

Foreign currency translation adjustments 135.8 161.5

Other* 80.7 80.7

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $4,363.9 $4,129.5 $1,623.9 $1,356.2

Funded status $ (228.6) $ (222.1) $ (615.5) $ (441.0)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 1,567.5 1,601.3 822.1 640.6

Unrecognized prior service (benefit) cost (54.7) (62.4) 10.3 11.1

Net amount recognized $1,284.2 $1,316.8 $ 216.9 $ 210.7

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance 
sheets consist of:

Prepaid pension cost $ – $ – $ 52.5– $ 55.5

Intangible asset 8.0 8.8

Accrued pension liability $ (206.5) $ (197.7) (331.4) (235.9)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss** 1,490.7 1,514.5 487.8 382.3

$1,284.2 $1,316.8 $ 216.9 $ 210.7

* Represents amounts of pension assets and liabilities assumed by the company at the inception of certain outsourcing contracts
related to the customers’ employees hired by the company.

**In addition to amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss relating to company pension plans, the company recorded $47.3    
million and $74.0 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, in other comprehensive loss related to its share of NUL’s 
minimum pension liability adjustment. (See Note 9.)

Retirement benefits December 31 is the measurement date for both U.S. and international
defined benefit pension plans. Retirement plans’ funded status and amounts recognized in the 
company’s consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003, follow:

Information for plans with a projected 
benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, follows:

December 31 (millions) 2004 2003

Projected benefit obligation $6,831.9 $6,148.8
Fair value of plan assets 5,987.8 5,485.7
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Net periodic pension cost for 2004, 2003 and 2002 includes the following components:

U.S. Plans International Plans

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $ 67.2 $ 58.8 $ 36.0 $ 49.2 $ 41.3 $ 27.6

Interest cost 264.3 267.4 278.9 96.0 80.0 64.3

Expected return on plan assets (378.9) (403.6) (459.8) (115.8) (97.2) (91.4)

Amortization of prior service (benefit) cost (7.7) (12.0) (5.6) 1.5 1.0 .8

Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 93.2 20.6 1.7 24.6 14.0 2.6

Settlement/curtailment (gain) loss (.4) (.4) 7.1 7.1 1.8

Net periodic pension cost (income) $ 38.1 $ (68.8) $(149.2) $ 55.5 $ 46.2 $ 5.7

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 6.25% 6.75% 7.50% 5.30% 5.86% 6.25%

Rate of compensation increase 4.60% 5.40% 5.40% 3.00% 3.64% 3.80%

Expected long-term rate of return on assets* 8.75% 8.75% 9.50% 7.51% 7.64% 8.20%
* For 2005, the company has assumed that the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for its U.S. defined benefit pension plan will be 8.75%.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 5.88% 6.25% 6.75% 5.12% 5.30% 5.86%

Rate of compensation increase 4.62% 4.60% 5.40% 3.14% 3.00% 3.64%

The asset allocation for the defined benefit pension
plans at December 31, 2004 and 2003, follows:

U.S. Int’l

December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003

Asset Category
Equity securities 69% 68% 49% 48%
Debt securities 24 24 49 50
Real estate 6 6 0 0
Cash 1 2 2 2

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

The company’s investment policy targets and ranges
for each asset category are as follows:  

U.S. Int’l
Asset Category Target Range Target Range

Equity securities 68% 65-71% 49% 44-54%
Debt securities 26% 23-29% 50% 45-56%
Real estate 6% 3-9% 0% 0-1%
Cash 0% 0-5% 1% 0-4%

The company periodically reviews its asset allocation,
taking into consideration plan liabilities, local regulatory
requirements, plan payment streams and then-current
capital market assumptions. The actual asset allocation
for each plan is monitored at least quarterly, relative to
the established policy targets and ranges. If the actual
asset allocation is close to or out of any of the ranges, a
review is conducted. Rebalancing will occur toward the
target allocation, with due consideration given to the 
liquidity of the investments and transaction costs.

The objectives of the company’s investment strategies 
are as follows: (a) to provide a total return that, over the long
term, increases the ratio of plan assets to liabilities by maxi-
mizing investment return on assets, at a level of risk deemed
appropriate, (b) to maximize return on assets by investing 
primarily in equity securities in the U.S. and for international
plans by investing in appropriate asset classes, subject to the
constraints of each plan design and local regulations, (c) to
diversify investments within asset classes to reduce the
impact of losses in single investments, and (d) for the U.S.
plan to invest in compliance with the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), as amended and any
subsequent applicable regulations and laws, and for interna-
tional plans to invest in a prudent manner in compliance with
local applicable regulations and laws.

The company sets the expected long-term rate of return
based on the expected long-term return of the various asset
categories in which it invests. The company considered the
current expectations for future returns and the actual histor-
ical returns of each asset class. Also, since the company’s
investment policy is to actively manage certain asset classes
where the potential exists to outperform the broader
market, the expected returns for those asset classes were
adjusted to reflect the expected additional returns. 

The company expects to make cash contributions of
approximately $70 million to its worldwide defined benefit
pension plans in 2005. In accordance with regulations gov-
erning contributions to U.S. defined benefit pension plans,
the company is not required to fund its U.S. qualified
defined benefit pension plan in 2005.
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As of December 31, 2004, the following benefit 
payments, which reflect expected future service, are
expected to be paid from the defined benefit pension
plans:

Expected payments

Year ending December 31 (millions) U.S. Int’l

2005 $ 303.6 $ 64.4

2006 308.6 61.6

2007 315.4 66.9

2008 323.0 71.8

2009 330.2 75.5

2010-2014 1,764.2 510.3

Other postretirement benefits December 31 is
the measurement date for the company’s postretirement
benefit plan. A reconciliation of the benefit obligation, fair
value of the plan assets and the funded status of the
postretirement benefit plan at December 31, 2004 and
2003, follow:

December 31 (millions) 2004 2003

Change in benefit obligation 

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 233.6 $ 234.7

Interest cost 14.0 15.0

Plan participants’ contributions 30.8 30.4

Actuarial loss 16.7 11.4

Benefits paid (59.7) (57.9)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 235.4 $ 233.6

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning 
of year $ 15.1 $ 16.3

Actual return on plan assets .7 (.4)

Employer contributions 27.4 26.7

Plan participants’ contributions 30.8 30.4

Benefits paid (59.7) (57.9)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 14.3 $ 15.1

Funded status $ (221.1) $ (218.5)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 69.3 56.3

Unrecognized prior service benefit (3.9) (5.9)

Accrued benefit cost $ (155.7) $ (168.1)

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2004, 2003 
and 2002, follows:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2004 2003 2002

Interest cost $14.0 $15.0 $14.7

Expected return on assets (.4) (.4) –

Amortization of prior 
service benefit (2.0) (2.0) (2.0)

Recognized net actuarial loss 4.1 3.7 1.9

Net periodic benefit cost $15.7 $16.3 $14.6

Weighted-average assumptions
used to determine net periodic
postretirement benefit cost for
the years ended December 31 
were as follows:

Discount rate 6.74% 7.00% 7.40%

Expected return on plan assets 6.75% 6.75% 8.00%

Weighted-average assumptions 
used to determine benefit obligation 
at December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 6.51% 6.74% 7.00%

The plan assets are invested as follows: 58% debt securities,
38% insurance contracts and 4% cash. The company reviews
its asset allocation periodically, taking into consideration plan
liabilities, plan payment streams and then-current capital market
assumptions. The company sets the long-term expected
return on asset assumption, based principally on the long-term
expected return on debt securities. These return assumptions
are based on a combination of current market conditions, cap-
ital market expectations of third-party investment advisors and
actual historical returns of the asset classes. 

The company expects to contribute approximately $27
million to its postretirement benefit plan in 2005.

Assumed health care cost trend
rates at December 31 2004 2003

Health care cost trend rate assumed 
for next year 11.3% 9.3%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed 
to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5.0% 5.5%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate 
trend rate 2014 2008

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care 
cost trend rates would have the following effects (in millions
of dollars):

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-
Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on interest cost $ .7 $ (.7)

Effect on postretirement 
benefit obligation 11.2 (11.2)
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As of December 31, 2004, the following benefit 
payments are expected to be paid from the company’s
postretirement plan:

Year ending December 31 (millions) Expected payments

2005 $ 26.7

2006 28.1

2007 29.5

2008 30.8

2009 31.3

2010-2014 149.6

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Mod-
ernization Act of 2003 (the Act) introduces a prescription drug
benefit under Medicare, as well as a federal subsidy to spon-
sors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit
that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. On
May 19, 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 106-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Moderniza-
tion Act of 2003.” FSP No. 106-2 is effective for the first
interim period beginning after June 15, 2004 and provides
that an employer shall measure the accumulated plan benefit
obligation (APBO) and net periodic postretirement benefit
cost, taking into account any subsidy received under the Act.
As of December 31, 2004, the company’s measurements of
both the APBO and the net postretirement benefit cost do not
reflect any amounts associated with the subsidy. While final
regulations have not been released, guidance provided to
date implies that the company’s plan will probably not be
considered actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D.
Accordingly, the company does not expect that adoption of 
FSP No. 106-2 will have a material effect on its consoli-
dated financial position, consolidated results of operations,
or liquidity.

18. Stockholders’ equity

The company has 720.0 million authorized shares of
common stock, par value $.01 per share, and 40.0 million
shares of authorized preferred stock, par value $1 per share,
issuable in series. 

Each outstanding share of common stock has attached
to it one preferred share purchase right. The rights become
exercisable only if a person or group acquires 20% or more
of the company’s common stock, or announces a tender or
exchange offer for 30% or more of the common stock.
Until the rights become exercisable, they have no dilutive
effect on net income per common share.

At December 31, 2004, 80.4 million shares of unissued
common stock of the company were reserved principally
for stock options and for stock purchase and savings plans.

Comprehensive income (loss) for the three years ended
December 31, 2004, includes the following components:

Year ended December 31 (millions) 2004 2003 2002

Net income $ 38.6 $ 258.7 $ 223.0

Other comprehensive 
income (loss) 

Cash flow hedges
Income (loss), net of tax of 

$(4.1), $(8.6) and $(4.3) (7.6) (15.9) (7.9)
Reclassification adjustments, 

net of tax of $5.7, $5.9
and $1.2 10.7 10.8 2.0

Foreign currency translation
adjustments (43.5) 65.3 (33.8)

Minimum pension liability, net of
tax of $15.7, $(85.9) and $731.2 (39.2) 164.8 (1,490.4)

Total other comprehensive 
income (loss) (7.4) 225.0 (1,530.1)

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (46.0) $ 483.7 $(1,307.1)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, is as follows (in millions
of dollars): 

Minimum
Translation Cash Flow Pension

Total Adjustments Hedges Liability

Balance at 
December 31, 2001 $ (706.8) $ (711.2) $ 4.4 $ –

Change during period (1,530.1) (33.8) (5.9) (1,490.4)

Balance at 
December 31, 2002 (2,236.9) (745.0) (1.5) (1,490.4)

Change during period 225.0 65.3 (5.1) 164.8

Balance at 
December 31, 2003 (2,011.9) $(679.7) $(6.6) $(1,325.6)

Change during period 7.4 43.5 3.1164.8 (39.2)

Balance at 
December 31, 2004 $(2,004.5) $ (636.2) $(3.5) $ (1,364.8)
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Report of Management on the Financial Statements
The management of the company is responsible for the integrity of its financial statements. These statements have been prepared

in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts based on the best estimates and judg-

ments of management. Financial information included elsewhere in this report is consistent with that in the financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the company’s financial statements. Its

accompanying report is based on audits conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 

Oversight Board (United States).

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent directors, oversees

management’s responsibilities in the preparation of the financial statements and selects the independent registered public

accounting firm, subject to stockholder ratification. The Audit Committee meets regularly with the independent registered public

accounting firm, representatives of management, and the internal auditors to review the activities of each and to assure that each

is properly discharging its responsibilities. To ensure complete independence, the internal auditors and representatives of Ernst &

Young LLP have full access to meet with the Audit Committee, with or without management representatives present, to discuss

the results of their audits and their observations on the adequacy of internal controls and the quality of financial reporting.

Lawrence A. Weinbach Joseph W. McGrath Janet Brutschea Haugen

Chairman President and Senior Vice President and 

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Unisys Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Unisys Corporation as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,

and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of Unisys Corporation’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We

believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated finan-

cial position of Unisys Corporation at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations and its

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted

accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States), the effectiveness of Unisys Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based

on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 4, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 4, 2005

January 28, 2005



Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The management of Unisys Corporation (the company), is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate

internal control over financial reporting. The company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial state-

ments for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in rea-

sonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the financial statements in

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are

being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the

company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inade-

quate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2004, based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in Internal 

Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on this assessment, we assert that the company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting 

as of December 31, 2004, based on the specified criteria.

Ernst & Young LLP, an Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, has audited the company’s consolidated

financial statements and has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the company’s internal 

control over financial reporting which appears on the following page.

Lawrence A. Weinbach Joseph W. McGrath Janet Brutschea Haugen

Chairman President and Senior Vice President and 

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

January 28, 2005
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Unisys Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting appearing on page 61 that Unisys Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as

of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Unisys Corporation’s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness

of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and

an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included

obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing

and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we

considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detec-

tion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the

financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-

equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Unisys Corporation maintained effective internal control over finan-

cial reporting as of December 31, 2004 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our

opinion, Unisys Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United

States), the consolidated balance sheets of Unisys Corporation as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consoli-

dated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December

31, 2004 and our report dated February 4, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 4, 2005
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Unisys Corporation

Quarterly financial information

First Second Third Fourth
(millions, except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2004

Revenue $1,462.9 $1,388.1 $1,445.7 $1,524.0 $5,820.7
Gross profit 391.5 367.1 341.0 262.8 1,362.4
Income (loss) before income taxes 42.4 28.7 (57.2) (89.9) (76.0)
Net income (loss) 28.9 19.4 25.2 (34.9) 38.6
Earnings (loss) per share – basic .09 .06 .08 (.10) .12

– diluted .09 .06 .07 (.10) .11
Market price per share  – high 15.88 15.00 13.84 11.83 15.88

– low 12.48 12.05 9.57 9.50 599.50

2003

Revenue $1,398.9 $1,425.0 $1,449.7 $1,637.6 $5,911.2
Gross profit 387.1 392.1 425.1 510.7 1,715.0
Income before income taxes 57.5 78.2 84.0 (160.8) (380.5)
Net income 38.5 52.5 56.2 (111.5) (258.7)
Earnings per share – basic .12 .16 .17 .34 .79

– diluted .12 .16 .17 .33 .78
Market price per share – high 11.24 12.45 14.19 16.85 16.85

– low 8.25 9.08 11.41 13.32 8.25

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the company recorded a pretax impairment charge of $125.6 million, or $.26 per share, and an after-tax benefit of $28.8
million, or $.09 per share, related to the favorable settlement of income tax audit issues. See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

In the third quarter of 2004, the company recorded a pretax cost reduction charge of $82.0 million, or $.18 per share, and a tax benefit related to
the settlement of tax audit issues of $68.2 million, or $.20 per share. See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The individual quarterly per-share amounts may not total to the per-share amount for the full year because of accounting rules governing the 
computation of earnings per share.

Market prices per share are as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange composite listing.

Five-year summary of selected financial data

(dollars in millions, except per share data) 2004(1) (2) 2003 2002 2001(1) 2000(1)

Results of operations
Revenue $ 5,820.7 $5,911.2 $5,607.4 $6,018.1 $6,885.0
Operating income (loss) (34.8) 427.7 423.2 (4.5) 426.8
Income (loss) before income taxes (76.0) 380.5 332.8 (73.0) 348.5
Net income (loss) 38.6 258.7 223.0 (67.1) 225.0
Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic .12 .79 .69 (.21) .72
Diluted .11 .78 .69 (.21) .71

Financial position
Total assets $ 5,620.9 $5,469.6 $4,981.4 $5,769.1 $5,713.3
Long-term debt 898.4 1,048.3 748.0 745.0 536.3
Stockholders’ equity 1,506.5 1,395.2 856.0 2,112.7 2,186.1
Stockholders’ equity per share 4.46 4.20 2.62 6.59 6.93
Other data
Research and development $ 294.3 $ 280.1 $ 273.3 $ 331.5 $ 333.6
Capital additions of properties 137.0 116.7 100.9 156.5 181.3
Capital additions of outsourcing assets 177.5 176.2 160.9 114.0 30.4
Investment in marketable software 119.6 144.1 139.9 141.8 152.4
Depreciation and amortization

Properties 136.5 144.4 125.2 121.4 123.5
Outsourcing assets 123.3 82.3 64.9 42.4 28.7

Amortization of marketable software 134.2 123.6 121.0 145.5 115.5
Amortization of goodwill – – – 16.5 21.8
Common shares outstanding (millions) 337.4 331.9 326.2 320.6 315.4
Stockholders of record (thousands) 25.2 26.3 27.3 28.4 ,29.7
Employees (thousands) 36.4 37.3 36.4 38.9 36.9

(1) Includes cost reduction pretax charges of $82.0 million, $276.3 million and $127.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
(2) Includes a pretax impairment charge of $125.6 million and favorable income tax audit settlements of $97.0 million in 2004.

Supplemental Financial Data (Unaudited)



Stock Information

Common Stock
The company has 720.0 million authorized shares of common stock,
par value $.01 per share.

At December 31, 2004, there were 337.4 million shares outstanding
and about 25,200 stockholders of record.

Unisys common stock (trading symbol UIS) is listed for trading on
the New York Stock Exchange, the SWX Swiss Exchange and
exchanges in Amsterdam, Brussels and London.

Preferred Stock
The company has 40.0 million shares of authorized preferred stock,
par value $1 per share, issuable in series.

At December 31, 2004, there were no shares of preferred stock
outstanding.

Voting Rights

Each share of Unisys common stock outstanding on the record date
for the annual meeting is entitled to one vote on each matter to be
voted upon at the meeting.

Annual Meeting

Stockholders are invited to attend the Unisys 2005 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, which will be held at The Hilton Inn at Penn, 3600
Sansom Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, on Thursday, April 21,
2005, at 9:30 a.m.

Formal notice of the meeting, along with the proxy statement and
proxy materials, was mailed or otherwise made available on or about
March 16, 2005, to stockholders of record as of February 28, 2005.

General Investor Inquiries and 
Correspondence

Investors with general questions about the company are invited to
contact Unisys Investor Relations at 215-986-6999 or
investor@unisys.com.

Direct investor correspondence to:
Jack F. McHale
Vice president, Investor Relations
Unisys Corporation
Unisys Way
Blue Bell, PA  19424

Investor Web Site

Unisys makes investor information available on its Web site at
www.unisys.com/investor. This site is updated regularly and includes
quarterly earnings releases, key management presentations, a delayed
Unisys stock quote, management biographies, corporate governance
information, key publications such as the annual report, and other
information useful to stockholders.

Company Financial Information

Unisys offers a telephone information service that provides fast,
convenient access to company financial news. Stockholders can use
this service to call seven days a week, 24 hours a day, to hear the most
current financial results and other general investor information.
Callers also can use this service to request a printed copy of the
current quarterly earnings release by fax or mail.

•In the United States and Canada, call 1-800-9-UNISYS (986-4797)
•Outside the United States, call +402-573-3678

Several publications that contain information of interest to investors
and potential investors are also available via written or telephone
request. These publications include:

•2004 and previous-year annual reports
•Forms 10-K and 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission

You can obtain these publications without charge via the Unisys
Investor Web site or by contacting:

Investor Relations, A2-15
Unisys Corporation
Unisys Way
Blue Bell, PA  19424
215-986-5777

Stockholder Services

Wachovia Bank, N.A., is the company’s stock transfer agent and
registrar. Administrative inquiries relating to stockholder records, lost
stock certificates, change of ownership or address, or the exchange of
PulsePoint Communications common stock certificates should be
directed to:

Wachovia Bank, N.A.
Equity Services Group, NC1153
1525 West W.T. Harris Blvd., 3C3
Charlotte, NC 28262-8522
704-590-0394
Toll free: 800-829-8432 (in the U.S. and Canada)
Hearing impaired: 800-835-8415 (TDD)
Internet: www.wachovia.com/equityservices
E-mail: equityservices@wachovia.com

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Ernst & Young LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Statements made by Unisys in this annual report that are not 
historical facts, including those regarding future performance,
are forward-looking statements under the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are based on 
current expectations and assumptions and involve risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from 
expectations. These risks and uncertainties are discussed on 
pages 33-35 of this report.
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How we operate in the marketplace is the foundation for our 
success. To help keep us on course, our people apply a series of
operating principles that guide the way we do business. Why are
these operating principles so important to us? They help us keep an
important commitment to our clients: to deliver precision thinking
and relentless execution to drive our clients’ business transformation.

External Obsession
The holistic perspective that integrates our clients’ industry
dynamics, competitors and internal landscape into every solution.

Best or Nothing 
The healthy confidence and organizational drive to target and
achieve leadership in everything we do.

Invent the Future
The breakthrough thinking that leaps at technological and economic
opportunities precisely when the time is right.

Be Bold 
The vision and insight to take bold steps to change the rules.

Team for Speed
The realization that there is strength—and speed of delivery—in 
partnering with others.

Deliver or Die
The passion to commit to win and then to do it.

Absolute Integrity
We will have integrity in all our dealings and will always stand for
what is right and honest.
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Our Operating Principles
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